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Eberling, Henry

DATE:
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ORIGINAI. =

< 1912
. R Ll ,
Police Court— ﬁ Dlstrlct. Affidavit—Larceny.
dity and (ﬂ;nuntn}sg : : .
of et Pork, 5 77 e

/ / ('//—' W Street, a,_ged._.......&}..d._.years,

being duly sworn,

nf No.

occrepation 4 - ! .

89 Jat the City of New

deposes and says, that on the

York, in the County of New Yorle, was feloniowusly talkern, stolern and carried away from the possession

has a probable cawuse to sw s
and carried away by ‘A

“90sNP 9920




OR QUALITY
ORI

GINAL

1847
See. 151. ’ - < Police Court.. 3 ............. District.

CITY AND COUNTY ss In the name of the People of the State Qf]\"éw York; v the Sheriff of the
OF NEW YORK, * County of New York, or any Marshal or Policeman of the City of New York:

Whereas, Complaint in writing, and upon §hith, Bas beenzﬁ before the undersigned, one of
I 4

the Police Justices for theA(Eity of New York, by, A At
of No. //J__ KA Street, that on th(‘;‘ ________ day of

189 3, at the City of New York, in the County of New Yoik, the following article, to wit:

yawe) <)

of the value of

the property of y
talken, sflen and carri

that the said Defendant may be apprehended
and bound to answer the said complaint.
These are Therefore, in the name of the PEOPLE of the State of New York, to command

-you the said Skeriff, Marshals and Poliggren, and every of you, to apprehend the bod;—g of the

said Defendant and forthwith bring Jbefore me, at the | DISTRZCT POLICE
COURT, in the said City, or in case of my absence or inability to act, before the ndarest or most
.accessible Police Justice in this City, to answer the said charge, and to be dealt with according to law.

-/

Dated at the City of New York, this...... / ............

PoricE JUSTICE.




Police Court District.

THE PEOPLE, &o.,

ON THE COMPLAINT OF

Magistrate.

... Officer.
The Defendant

taken, and brought before the Magistrate, to
per the within charge,
nand contained in thi

This Warrant may be executed on Sunday
or at night.

Police Justice.




GINAL

Sec. 198—200, v Distriet Police Court.

being duly examined before the undersigned
.to law, orf the annexed charge ; a.n%ing informed that it is % right to malke a state-
ment in relation to the charge against h S that the statement is designed to enable h \, if he

see fit, to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h \ ; that he is at liberty to

waive making a statement, and that h \vaiver eannot be used against h\) on the trial.

| .. Question. What is yourmame ?
. Answer.

__ Question. How old are you?

Answer.

__Question. Where do you live, and how long haveyou resided there ? ) )
R - A s W ‘. / D e

Question. What is your busines rprofession ?
e’

ign “you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the testi-

Lo Answers
Question. Give any explanatiq
____ mony a ’ u, and state any facts which you think will tend $o your exculpation.

Answer.

01SNL 99190




ORIGINAL ‘

State of New York, )

County of KA S8,

City of .

being duly sworn. says he isacequaibhted with the hand-
W rxt::? of W- the Police Justice who issued
the nexe! arrant, d that the signature to this War-
}‘w ?1)9 bagidwriting of said Wh—:—- .

Sworn to bef ,5 e, tlus *7

“V
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IE appearing i me by

== - —

e wifhin nam

commitied. and fnai ifieie

Builiy thereoj. I order thai aedmiiled to Oail in ithe sum of

_@J 3 7 - - 7y ) - ' ¥ fne Warden and FReeper of

> 7 Police Jusiice.

I harve admiied the acre-zigimed

#0 bail o answer by the underiqiing herzio anncred.

Dated, _I89

There Hcing No sujjiciend cause in iciicrs the wilhiin ramed.

Suiiiy 65 the oijens: wwithin meniioned, I order i




POOR QUALITY
 ORIGINAL

Conrt of General Scessious of the Weace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

adainst

Ao, Slardl
- <

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York, by this indictment, accuse
V74 ' ~

Eauiat S o
«. . -
P
of the CRrRIME or GRAND LARCEXNY IN THE\‘/é.(Z./C_.v . L/( DEGREE,
as follows: /

) ~
The sai L C 2 ) C_) c_~ _/(4’“7/j ‘

late of the City of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on t%\ e <,/L/@,¢,,(;Z/‘h%'<"'

day of S C A e ¢~ in the vear of our Lord, one thou d eight hundred and
ninety-/ZZCA¢ ¢ , at the City and County aforesaid, with foree and arms,

TiE PEOPLE oF THE STATE oF NEW YORK )

committed

~dTruc (/a» WRVIRY s My’\x Nt e e =

// -
%C RS G U {;/ &(% g/, R C e 2 -1,(_// e
~d it 7o, p% L~ f(é«(’ =

then and there being found, then and there feloniously did steal, take and carry away, against
the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People

£
f~=4
of the State of New York and their dignity.




SECOND COUNT—

AND TiILE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by th\is indictment, further accuse the said

Elier €., .

) T ——————

AN
ECEIVING STOLEN PROPERAY, committed as follows :

Z
& fer O,
o c C. O~ €~ At P
late of the City and Coun‘t‘:y‘ aforesaid, atterwards, to wit: on the ddy and in the year aforesaid, at

the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms,

~ A
\_# - >
DT L (4’\./‘( e c - e, a(/( e 7

L p-\_/

N Cne l(J da///;/«_.««b@/ Cvcc..eA &g Q//

N f/(( Corn & o o ,‘ 2 el (/é/

b\// &
LCA e
by a certain person or persons to the Grand Jury -._/afo resaid Anlkknown, thefi/lately before
feloniously stolen, taken and carried away from the said ) 7

. \,/6/ ’ aj«é(

unlawfully and unjustlyAti feloniously receive and have ; the said
g yd

) .
'(/V(/\ - /~ @ « \’(,/é R

then and there well known—the sajd goods, chattels and Personal property to have been
feloniously stolen, taken and carried way, against the form of the statut

such case made and
provided, and against the peace 6f the People of the State of New Y

ork and their dignity.

DE LANCEY NICOLL,

District Attorney.
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Edison, John

DATE:
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K OORQMMTY
' ORIGINAL

OF NEW YORK,

of No. /tg/&/ Strest,

ﬂfgzé__ﬂ;%m_r_ﬂ_[_&g%@%.-_éw being duly sworn, deposes and says, that
; P~

on%_%{ﬂé(ﬁ- —_.the < day of @&%

in the year xyfat the City of New York, in the County of New York,

CITY AND COUNTY gss

he was violently and feloniously ASSAULTED AEEER SNy

/‘-)44—1,“ ZIJA y -

P B Y

- ,lél‘ﬁ oy ,Z//wg i

[

with the t\}élonious intent to take the life ofdeponent,x

any justification on the part of the said assailant

to do him grievous bodily harm; and without

Wherefore this deponent prays that the said assailant may be approhesdedwand bound to answer
for the above assault, etc., and be dealt with according to law,

ZZz

Sworn to before me, this

of (e Zar e

ooy N e

POLICE JUSTICE.




. ORIGINAL

Sec. 198—200. District Police Court.

ity x

being duly examined before the undersigned

cording to law, on the annexed charge; and being informed that it is h <= right to make a state-
ment in relation to the charge against hew ;that the statement is designed to enable h ~g,if he
4
see fit, to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h % that he is at liberty to
waive making a statement, and that h > waiver cannot be used against h “=%on the trial.
| Lueestion. W1
Aunswer.

__Question. How old are you ?

o _Answer. 72}4 . yfm .

___Question. Where were you born?

_Anscer. ‘% %%

_Question. Where do you live, and how long have you resided theve ?

Answer. /37(-/. A %,/ % —

_Question., "What is your business or profession ?

Answer. . /@'W

QQuestion. Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the testi-
..mony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend. to.your exculpation.

_Answer.

~fo finp

% S1g 9w 940 09 uaynT

KQ/V’ V//VU/VE/)
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ments that the crime therein mentioned has been

committed, and that there is sujficient cawse to elicve the within rnamed.. %fx ol e 4«44%{)

‘ _ 7
W\—//_\% i, S
be held to answer the same and e be admitted 1o bail in the swm of

Fuilty thez‘eof, Lorder that |he
A e g Hundred Dollars
the City Prison, of the City of New York, wntil he  give such bail.

Dated....m é @ z%\)‘? (D /Z C\‘/r/gM 1%727_%/ ~/;» e Police Justice.

It appearing to me by the within depositions and state

and be committed to the Warden and Keeper of

. L have admitted the above-narmed.

to bail to answer by the wunderiaking hereto annexed.

Police Justice.

Dated I8

There being rno sufficient cawse to believe the within named

- SWilty of the offence within meentioned. I order to be discharged.

Police Justice.

Dated
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-

Bistrict itorney’s Office,

CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORE.

CAPTAIN OR OFFICER IN COMMAND.
@emé d¢ . /8
OV ﬂédt%e Za gLee @%ai MM 3

ﬂ//;c/é%!; yﬂ&ﬁi cam%zz%%
il tie 2ol lione Lo 160 o
T £ dedezltaze Yo 1722 Cozde &

A =2

S
272 aaz't% z '74% dedozzsie z/;z/ ,4?

Sblrrse wil 74 ?{/cm
cwlivze tie delalicoe Lo Lo cade, wiedd wo Lo T
/én’méua 2ecated %//fe %4.5.20%.%, A ssece g A
crtez bt o odDicese.

%néa ,/,2“/ -,

HENRY W. UNGER,

Deputy Assistant and Secretary to the District Attorney,




COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS,

PART III.

The People
Before

of the State of New York,
Hon. Rufus B. Cowing,

~Aga inst-
and a Jury.

John Edison.

Indictment filed October 12th, 1893,
Indicted for Assault in the First Degree.

Grf,

New York, Newember 23rd, 1893,

APPEARANCES,

For the People,
Assistant District Attorney Henry D. Macdona.

For the Defendant, Mr, Jacob Berlinger.

OHN DOWILING, a witness for the People, sworn,
reay

testified:

I am a police officer attached to the 24th Precinct.
I arrested the defendant on the night of the 5th of
October, charging him with assault. I searched him
and found no weapon on him. I know the saloon of Mr.
Necll, 390 Boston Avenue. There is an electric light

in front of the place.

THEOBOLD NOLL, a witness for the People, sworn,
testified:
I live at 390 Boston Avenue, and carry on a liquor

business there, I am fifty-one years old.,. I have kept

in that place five months, On the night of the 4th of




ORIGINAL

>OOR QUALITY '_ .

October, about 12 o'clock, I was in my saloon. About
fifteen minutes before 12, the deflfendant, with two
others, came into my saloon. The defendant asked for
the cards, and said that he and his friends would like
to play a game. I told him he couldn't have the cards
because it was nearly twelve o'eclock. Edison said "What
the hell do you close up for so early? Your time is one
o'clock. " I says "I guess I am the boss in my own
store, and I donﬂt need 1o be told about what time to
close up." He says "You want to sleep; that is all."

I says, "If I like to sleep, I sleep; and I will close
up now, % The defendant and his friends then had =z
glass of beer each. The defendant and his Ffriends got
into a row with me, and I went to the back of the bar
for my stieck and started to pﬁt them out. When I got
them out I closed up my store. When I told my son to
shut the door this man tried to pPrevent hnim from doing
so. When they got out in the street this pPrisoner pick-
ed up stones from the street and fired them at the
house,. There are trees in front of my lace. I went
outside wh=2n the stones were fired, and told them if
they didn't stop I woulad get a police officer. I saw
the defendant John Edison pull a revolver out of his
pocket and fire a shot direetly at me. I jumped behind
a tree, and on the following morning I found a bullet
hole in the tree. It was right even with my head. I
am positive that the defendant John Edison fired that °

bullet from a pistol which he held in his hand. My son’
then shouted for me to go in the house, and I ran in

the house;
(2)




CROSS EXAMINATION:

I wrote to the police captain, telling him of the
trouble I was having with young men in my saloon, and
he promised me protection. I did not tell him about the
defendant firing a shot at me which struck a tree. I
made no complaint of this shooting until three weeks
after the date of the asszault. Anyone who wished could
see the mark of the bullet in the tree on the day fol-
lowing the assault and since. A great many parties
come up to my hotel, as I have a picnic ground connected
with it; and some of those parties shoot at times. I

know that the bullet hole in the tree was not made by

any of those parties, but was mdde by the bullet from

the pistol which the defendant fired at me. There is
an electric light in front of my place, and I was stand-
ing about twenty-five or thirty feet from that light

at the time the defendant fired the shot. I could see
his face clearly. I had seen him in my saloon several

times before, and knew his face perfectly.

H N OL L, a witness for the People, sworn, testified:
I am a son of the complainant, and live at 390
Boston Avenue in this city. I was with my father on thea. -
night of the 4th of October, I saw the defendant and
'his friends in our store about a gquarier of 12 o'elock.
The young men came in and asked for cards; my father
said they couldn't have the cards, as he was about to
close up. They drank some beer in the place, and then
started to have a fight. My father went behind the bar
and got a club and put them out of the store. He told

(3)




POOR QUALITY
. ORIGINAL

them if they didn't behave themselves he would lock the
door, loeck them in and send for an officer. When they
got outside they began to throw stones at the house.
I saw the defepdant firing stones. My father then went
out, and when he was outside I saw the defendant pull a
pistol and fire it at my father. My father jumped be-
hind a tree, and the bullet of the pistol struck the
tree. I heard the defendant say as he and his friends
walked away, "We will fix thazt son of a bitech to-morrow
night."

CR0OSS EXAMINATION:

I heard two shots fired. It was after the defend-
ant missed hitting my father that he said that he andA
his friends would fix him to-morrow night. At the time
I saw the shots fired I was standing at the front door,
about seventy-five feet away from the defendant. I am
positive that I saw the pistol in his hand and saw him
fire 1it. After he had fired it off twice, he and his
friends went away. The following day I looked and saw
a bullet hole in the tree behind which my father ran.

I am positive that it was a fresh bullet hole, There

was an electriec light right in front of our store, and
you could see everything clearly. I was stand ing within
seventy-five fTeet of the parties at the t ime of the
shooting. I have known this defendant for a few months
and could not be mistaken in him. The defendant came
into our place some time after this occurrence. My
father sent for a policeman and had him arrested, My

father did not make any charge agzinst the defendant on

(4)




[ POOR QuAaLITY
ORIGINAL

the morning following the shooting.
DEF EN S E.

EDI S O N, the defendant, sworn, testified:

I 1live at 375 Bristol Street, Morrisania; that is
one block from Noll's saloon. I heard Mr, Noll's testi-
mony. The charge that he makes against me of firing a
pistol at him on the 4th of October is not +true. I have
never carried a pistol. I did not fire any pistol at him
on that night. I went to his saloon on the night of the
4th of October, in company with two men named Mulvey
and McCabe. I asked him to give us the cards, so that
we could play a game of euchre. He said it was getting
too late and he was going to close up. We then had
some drinks, One of my friends laid down a quarter on
the bar, and the proprietor would not give him the change.
We had a quarrel about that, and he started to put us
out of the saloon,. When we got outside I did not go
and étand on the opposite corner, I did not fire off
any pistol that night, as I had no pistol with me. I
was around that neighborhood until the time of my arrest.
I have been employed by Mr. Reilly at 107th Street and
lst Avenue, driving a truck, for about three months.

I was arrested once for disorderly conduct and discharged.

I never carried a pistel in my life.

EDWARD J. MULVYV EY, a witness for the defendant, sworn,
testified:
I am employed by the Union Railroad Company. On

(5)




[ POOR QUALITY
, ORIGINAL

the 4th of October I went with McCabe and Edison to
Noll's saloon. When we went in we asked for the cards,
but they were refused., So we had three drinks at the
bar, and the proprietor did not give us any change. We
-had a gquarrel about that money, and the proprietor went
and got his club and started to put us out. We went
out and walked to the opposite side of the street. I
was in company with Edison until we went away from that
}place. No revolver was fired by him or by anyone else.
The three of us walked to West Farms. I did not see any
pistol in Edison's hand; I had none, and McCabe had none.
CROSS EXAMINATION:

I had not heen with. Edison a2ll that day; I only met
him in the evening. We all had a few drinks, buit were
not under the influence of liguor, After we left the
saloon we walked to West FParms, went to a szaloon there,
had a drink, and then returned home. During the time I
was with Edison I did not see any pistol with him, nor
did I see him fire off any pistol. We had no particular
object in walking to West Farms, except to visit a saloon

there and get a drink.

JOHN C. F URBER, a witness for the defendant, sworn,
testified:
I am in the grocery business at 1219 Union Avenue.
I do not know the defendant, but I know the complainant,
Mr. Noll. On the morning of the 5th of October I was
talking withrc Noll. le brought me out and showed
me where the bullet had struck in the tree. I saw what

Mr. Noll +told me was the bullet mark on the tree.
(8)




N POOR QUALITY
ORIGINAL

I could not tell whe ther it was a bullet mark or a mark
of a nail. There was simply a piece of the bark torn
off the tree. It looked to me as though it was a place
where a nbtice of a picnic had been nailed up, and that
the mark was the mark of the nail. It did not look to

me like the mark of a bullet.

TH OMA S G RAYVES, a witness for the defendant, swomn,
testified:
I reside at 418 Boston Avenue, I have lived there

about three years, My house is about 140 feet from
the saloon of Mr. Noll. I have heard the testimony as
to this asszault, The way I understand it was that
Edison was stand ing opposite the saloon. I remember
the night of the 4th of October, I sleep in a hall
room on the second floor. On that night I was azt home.
I am not a heavy sleeper. I heard no pistol shot; if a
ristol had been shot off at 12 o'eloeck at night so near
my house as the testimony in this case shows, I would
have heard it. I am positive I heard no pistol shot
on the night of the 4th of October. I will swear posit-

ively to that fact.

EDWARD Jo, EDINGTON, a witness for the defendant,

sworn, testified:
I am the father of the defendant; Edington is his
proper name. The character of the defendant is good.

He has worked steadily for some 1t ime.

(7)




{ POOR QUALITY
, ORIGINAL

PELTIX Mec C ABE, a witness for the defendant, sworn,
testified:

I live at 342 Clinton Avenue, I have 1lived there
going on thirty-one years, I am a laborer. I am ac-
quainted with the defendant and with Mulvey. I was in
their company on the night of the 4th of October, We
went toge ther to Né6éll's saloon on that night. Whe n we
got into the saloon we asked Noll to give us the cards,
so that we might have a game of éuchfe. Mr. Noll re-
fused to give us the cards, saying it was too late,

We went to the bar then and had a drink. There was some
dispute about the change, ani the proprietor went behind
the bar for a club and started to put us out, We went
out of the saloon and went acerocss the street.: I was with
Bdison during all the time he was there, and I did not
see him fire off any pistol. There were some stones
fired at the saloon by all three of us. I saw no pistol
in BEdison's possession that night.

CROSS EXAMINATION:

I was working on the day of the trouble; I work
every day. I left my house between six and seven
o'clock., I did not meet Edison until nine or ten o'clock
After I met him we had some drinks, and it was nearly
twelve when we went into Mr, Noll's saloon. We did not
go in there for the purpose of having a Tight. There
was a dispute about the change, and Mr, Noll said he
would put us out of his saloon and lock the place up.

He struck us with the c¢lub which he took from behind
the bar, After we got out of the saloon we took a walk

to West FParms, went into a saloon there and had a drink.

(8)




OORQMHTY .
. ORIGINAL

Then we started to walk home again. We did not have ang

definite object in going to West Farms.

J A CORB M. F UR B E R, a witness for the defendant, sworn,
testified:
I am employed in the Department of Strect Improve-—
Eepts in the 23rd and 24th Wards, I live at 219 Union
.AQ;nue. I have here a diagram of Noll's szloon zné the

trees in front of it. I have examined the which

Mr. Noll testified was struck by the bullet

-~

I saw a mark:on the tree as though the bark
stripped o6Ff#F, but I would not say that it was z bullet
hole. It looked to me more as though a pin or a n=il

had been driven into the tree and took off some of

the bark.

The Jury returned verdict of guilty of

Assault in the Second Degree.
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_oon le:.n-v A
| ORIGIN‘AL i

@owrt of Geneval Sessions of the Peace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.
\

TuE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK

ageinst

R 2 (5&(,(/\2(7_0 )

Y

N
7

City and L}lty of New York, by this indictment accuse

A= ()«é(/’\)‘ T e \\——'/,_-\>
THE FIRS(}EGRDD, commltted as follows: -

\”'egé,.a‘c/c,/q e B

late of th@'t\yﬁof l(l'ew Yﬁlk in the County of New York me p 0(_(/\‘//

day of PN T in the year of our Lord one thodiand eight hundred and

one

ninety- /@% » with f010jd arms, at the City and County aforefaid, in and upon the body of

%" //Z A C/(_/ in the p;L?gf the said
e

FPeople then e belnrr feloniously did make an assault and to, at and against _ )
g

’ —
the said § O r«/{d /’( éx,éé/,. a certain pisto thexy} there
load%n\bch'no-ed with gunpowder and one leaden ul/fet which the said AT i —

Q/&C/(/QJ{) - 1,/-\/ ;1 /L//(_/ Mght ha hex And there had and

held, the same being a deadly and\da ‘ous weapon, wilfully a,nd iously did th@n and there

shoot off and discharge with intent "=, the sa.ld(‘ == / @vé(

thereby then and there feloniously and wilfully to Iill, against the form of the statute in such case

made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.

SECOND COUNT—

And th({\ rand ry aforesai % this indictment further accuse the said
)

’/./:. - —‘ﬁk/ (//7(./ ) ’f(/(/.o___(_(;/ P ¢ S @ ——

of the CRIM@?' SSAULTIN THJ?‘JCS(EGQND DEGREE, committed as follows :
The said . 2
“{} e W

—

4 T . L
2(;11:1 w1ongfully malke anoth@ assault, and to, at and against

ahd loaded with gunpowder and one leaden bullet, which the

R~ S

< right hand then and there had and held, the same being a weapon and an instrument
likely to produce grievous bodily harm, then and there feloniously did wilfully and wrongfully shoot
off and discharge, against the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the
peace of the People of the Stale of New York and their dignity.

DE LANCEY NICOLL,

District A tZorney.
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FOLDER:
4882

DESCRIPTION:

Enneser, Louis

DATE:
10/06/93
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Police Court— District.

@ity and Connty % o
of Fetv Pork, " ~@?

“gf No. /Z / ﬂ j{-}- ’Z W / Street, aged_______‘___,_ﬁ ........... Years,

occupation being duly sworn

deposes anid says, that on the...... /Zf day 0@) W f at the City of New

York, in the County of New York,

.

e was violently and eroneousZy ASSAULTED and BEATEN b Y

//f:z'ﬂb the felonious sutenttotakethelifo-ctdepancnimorto do him grievous bodily harm; and without
any justification on the part of the said assailant

Wherefore this deponent prays tlhat he said assailant may be apprehended and bound to answer

Jor the above assault, etc., and be dealt with according to law.
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o A—
j 1882
200. PDistriect Police Court.

@ity ande @oavpxfy of Few Work, 55

W /W& ; being duly examined before the undersigned

- according to law, on the annexed charge; and being informed that it is ‘l)vright to make a state-

ment in relation to a charge against h *; that the statement is designed to enable b it he

; B
see fit, to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against },——— ; that he is at liberty to

waive making a stgtement, and that h/g' waiver cannot be used against _Je— on the trial.

 Question. "'What is your name ?

 Question. How old are you?
Answer. / | ;
Question. Whergwere you bor

Answer.

Question. Where do you live, andhow lgng have you resided ‘e ? (—\j\ M
' 2 Cgef ' N
Answer. / 7 / ﬂ é . W N

Question. "What i businesg of profession?
Answer.

Question. Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the testi-
mony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your exculpation.

Answer.

- Qv sk

R

w0igsnp 9910d
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6 thvat the crime therein mentioned

Ry 2arnecl

lie De achiited‘ta bail in the swum of

e be held to answer the same, arnd

ollars,. . ——.and be com itted to the Warden and Keeper of

ity of New Tork, wuntil he Sive. s
S p——

< W\J Police Justice.

I have have admitted the above-named

to bail to answer by the underialking hereto annexed.

i Police Justice.

There being no sufficient cawse to believe the within named
Suilty of the offense within mentioned, I order h to be disclarged.

Dated, 189 Police Justice.




@ovrt of General Sessions of the Peace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

THe PeorLe orF THE StaTre o NEW YORK,

aduinst

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York, by this indictment, accuse

k/’ O ~C s éz/b e D S~ ——

N

of the Crive or ASSAULA IN THE SECOND DEGREE, committed as follows :

The said

W (/ Cc / - day of

g N
€. ,»c//é\//(/c/ in the year ol our Lmd ()ml “Fhopband eight hundred and
U O AR , at the City and County aforesaid, in and upon one

/— -
- ’ E ~
. 24—/('_ e A R S B D -
in the peace of the said Peopletlzn and there baing, Ldomouslv did wﬂfu]]y and wrong I‘nl]v
7

did malke an assault ; and the sai -
A A 2R AR @y

with a certain Wﬁ‘—\/ = T e which % the said
. ~ & C

COREG=H / e, = 2 S R Py ST S . I
in '/J right hané then and there had and held. the samebeing then and there

Cg?pon and an instrument likely to produce grievous bodily harm, %‘"L//z,— 2o » the suid

AR ot ~ c e .. 2 then and there feloniously did wilfully ancl
strike, beat , @{_L/,/ 2 L ,(L/é . bruize-and wound, against the form of the statute

wrongigll
in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People oi the State of ’\Tew Yorlk

and their dignity.
| @VL, ic/ %&&aﬂ/g
/XQL/%/C// %‘\m




BOX:
536

FOLDER:
4882

DESCRIPTION:

Epstein, George

DATE:

10/10/93

4882
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DlS‘tl"] ct. Affidavit—Larceny.

Police Court—
@ity and QLnnmfg} o

of Felo Pork : ,1/@
of No. /.// ‘%‘4/ Street, aged...df{Z...years

being duly swormn,

occupa,i won.
day 0f &, at the Obty of New

deposes and says, that on the

Yorl, in the County of Wew York, was feloniowsly talen, stolern and carried away from the possession

iime, the following property, viz:

and that this deponent

has a probable cawse to sw: 7vd does suspect, that roperty was eronLousZ J talken, stol
and ca,rrwcé'awa,y b / =z '//

:
&
=]
A
.
Cdu
(3
oy
&
(-3
e
e
hx3
R
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being duly examined before the undersigned
g to law, on thg”annexed charge; and being informed that it is h =< right to make a state-

ment in relation to the charge against h ; that the statement is designed to enable © ,if he
ge ag L6 & \

see fit, to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h 7);that he is at liberty to

waive making a statement, and that h waiver cannot be used against h on the trial.
5 H “ >

Question.

. Question. How old e‘?

Answer.
Question.. Where were yo

Answer.

Question. Where do you li ncd howy long have you resided there ?
. Answm//%/v - \r

1

Question. 'What is your busings€ or profpssion ?
S

Answer.

you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the testi-
7 and state any facts which you think will tend to your exculpation.
. whl ¢ !

ifoq usymy

7
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/L.%:H )

I

8
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fire named
~ M
e el e
same, and = he be admitted to bail in the sum of

EW)‘} I order that he be held to £
/ -
Hzondred Dollars, : nncZ be camwfted to.the Warden and Keeper of

the C’zWe City of N Yorlgpuntil he dbve sticl b\l
Dated M i~ o 7o

I have admitted the above-nanied

2o bail to answer by the undertaking hereto annexed.

Police Justice.

189

Dated,

There beind no sufficient cause to believe the within named,

Suilty of the offense within mentioned, I order h to be discharged,

Police Justice.
1681
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@onxt of Geucral Sessions of the Beace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

Tirz PEOPLE or 1H: STATE oF NEW YORK )

against

New York, by this indictment, accuse

{ R J M(/7\// ~ "\‘/\\,
of the CrIME or G XRCEN
as follows: /

C//O*—”\(j C “Z i_»/——c/\/

late of the Citg of New Y(Z in the County of New York aforesaid, on the & .c j/—@/

Y IN THE _ Q€ ¢ - ‘/QS\ DEGREE, committed

The saic W

e~ in the year of our Lord, one thousand _eighlt hundred and

at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms,
P :

—T2c e /bﬁ/é Z /% e s — R

AN

- v' 7
- /éZ(f_) ' Z/‘/(/é/( ANy // ’é:\C/c’LZ\ Cé*%/ D et c/\

C

of the goods, chattels and personal property of one /»/Z’Z/d/)é

then and there being found, then and there feloniously did steal, take and carry away, against
the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People

of the State of New York and theiy dignity. /
«u W

e i




BOX:
536

FOLDER:
4882

DESCRIPTION:

Escelona, Viscenta

DATE:

10/17/93

i

4882




BOX:
536

FOLDER:
4882

DESCRIPTION:

Quintano, Frank

DATE:

10/17/93

T
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PPolice Court— D:Lstrlct Affidavit—Larceny.

Wity and Connty

of et Pork, 55 é é%/ﬁy é QKWW%
tead- 105
Jo

........ e W

Street, aged....... el years,

being duly sworrm,

deposes and says, that on the 1893 at the City of New

York, in the County of New York, was feloniously taken, stolen and carried away fronv the possessiorn

“
%

8

and that this deponent

has a probable cawse to sw&pect and does swspget, that the, said pr ope7 ty was feloniously taler., stoler

carried awa,y W% /M/ oLt Vﬂ(
7

At W;-W/‘ /é/w W,
C T s AhE Gt Brtrricts gl
QAN ELL IO%MW%%W&/ J 4 (?M/«'//"
(2.9 il 7







CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YORK,

aged / 7 years, occupation
[€
(j W /// / Stre Zing duly swgrzjﬁ)ses an

says, that he has heard read the foregoing affidavit o

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of deponent’s own

o

knowledge.

Police ‘}rz/stuce
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Sec. 198—200. j District Police Court.

R Ew YO 5; Sé/p % ; :
@ //4 being duly examined before the under-

s1gned accorchng o law, on the annexed cha.rore ;5 and being informed that it is h right to
make a statement in relation to the charge agamst h \ ; that the statement is designed to
enable h \ if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h

that he is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h \._ Walver cannot be wused

against h N\ on the trial

Question. at iS~your name ? ‘
icie 6 aeceliria

Answer.

Question. How ol a.rjou_z

Answer. T &

Question. Whe Ze/gre yoy born _"7 [] .
Answer. -~ %ﬁ L
Question. Where do you 11 a,nd how lo ave you resnied there ?

Answer. />/

Question. iness or profe551on ?

Answer.

Question. Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the
testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your

exculpation %

074 QM’

SN 3030
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Sec. 198--200, Gj\ Distriet Police Court.

“YTY AND COUNTY
ﬁe& BRI
, 2 —W being duly examined before the under-

signed according to law, on the annexed charge ; and being informed that it is h L right to
make a statement in relation to the charge against h \ ; that the statement is designed to
enable h if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h «

that he is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h . Wailver cannot be used

against h ™\ on the trial.
a

Question. is your name ? j .
%My%@ @Z/Mzo/ Y,

Answer.

Question.

I
How old you ?
Answer. z 3 W

Question. Where were y born 2

Answer. %—' W
Question. Where do you live, how long have/fou resided there 2
Z S/ /) ’ & WM -

Answer.

Question. Whj}your business or profession 2

Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the
testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your

exculpation ?

Question.

Answer.

V
— Cirv

177
o

7

VY

ousnp 1oy0g
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It appearing to me by the within depositions and staterrents that tie erine therein mentioned has beern

ient cause to believe tho\ cithin nanved............................

Lo dundred Ddllars,... and be committe the Warden and Keeper of

“the City of New York, until / he/ Sdive such bail, W
—
- c
/ ‘5 . v A Police Justice.

I have admiited the above-named ...

to bail to answer by the wndertaking hereto annexed.

189 Police Justice.

S
There being no sufficient cawse to Lelieve the within named.....

cioeee - SULLEY Of the offence within meentioned. I order y to be discharged.

Police Justice.




THE PEOPLE, COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS, PART 1.

vSs.
BEFORE RECORDER SMYTH.

VISCENTA ESCELONA,
and
FRANK QUINTANO.

Wednesday, November 8, 1893.
Indictment for GRAND LARCENY, in tne SECOND DEGREE.
Assistant Distriect Atiomey Macuona, for The People.

Mr. Berlingewr, for the Defendants.

CHARLES BARCALOW, sworn and examined, testified:

Macdona:

What is your name¢® A. Charles Barcalow.

What is your bus iness? A. Clerk for Mr. Sanborn.

. Where is Mr. Sanborn's place of business?

A. 231 West 125th str eet.
What is nis business? A, Jeweler.
Do you remember seeing these two defendants on the 10th of
October, at that store? A. Yes, sir.
What time of aay-  dda they come tihere?

A, It was on Octobesr 10th, o©n Tuesday; between 4 and
ggo'clock.
In the afternoon? A. Yes, sir.
Did they come in together, into tre. S o re?

A. The two of them came in T oge thexr.
Were there any other cusicmers in the s tore wnen tniey came

L in% A. There was one young man, talking to

Mr. Sanborn.

iDid either of them speak to you wnen the came into the

A. The one with the beard spoke to me

A. Quintano.
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By the

=2

Q

E
I
i
§

!
i
!

Vhat did he say?

A. He asked 10 see some scarf-pins, about $25.00 or $40.®

somewhere around that price; 1 showed him some, took out the

tray of pins,and he looked at them, and e kind of admired
one there, a cluster pin with saphire in the center and
with diamonds around it, at $55.00. I showed him that,

and he attracted my attention a little ways, andltum ed

around
Quintzno did?

Court:
When you showed this man, Qgintano, the tray of pins, I
understood you 10 say that ne wanted 10 see scarf-pins from

$25.00 1o $45.00¢9 A. Yes, sir.

Then you took out the tray; did you?
A. I took outr the tray pf pins.

And you laid it where?

A. On the show-case; I was in fronz.
Where were those two men when you laid the case in the

front? A. They were on one side of the show-~

case and 1 was in front of the tray; the/ were st nding to-

geth eir.

I understocd you to Say this man, Quintano, looked st a pin

worth $55.00%9 A. Yes, sir.

What did he say abcocut that? A. He looked at it,

but he said he would like to havesomething more showy and
notv quite as high priced.

Macdona:

When he had this pin in his hand, did he engage in conversa—j
tion #ith the friend of his¢$

Court:
Did he take it into his hand? A. I had the i1ray in frontg




rooR uaLITY
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of him.
Did he take out that pin%

A. Yes, sir, nhe took it out of the tray with his hand,

and looked at it, and the two of them talked together about
the pin -- I couldn't understand what they were talking
about; they were talking Spanisin or some thing of the kind
of language -- I don't know whieche.
What was done. next? A. He asked me if we nad
any nighexr priced ones, a litsle more shiowy; I told him that
we dis 't have anything more showy than tha t one, I walked
down a little ways, about two feet or sanething like thatu~———
Leaving the tray there with the pins?

A. Yes, sir.

This man took the pin in his hand?

A He laid it down on the tray; 1 walked about two feet
°or so, and I turned around and came back; when 1 came back
he asked me again if 1 nadanything a little more showy, and
I looked right away, and 1 saw this bParticular pin was gone.
What did you do?%?

A. I called Mr. Sanborn; and Mr. Sanborn came down and
took nim by the sleeve, and found the Pin in his sleeve be-
tween the cuff.

Who did he take hold of? A. Viscenta.

Took him by the wrist@[ A. Yes, sir, t..ook him by
the wrist.

Did you see the pin in his sleeve? A. When Mr. San-
born came down, we took it out ofhis sleeve; 1 saw Mr.
Sanborn take it out.

It was still in the paste-board it was in, and the paste-

board and tke whole thing was up his sleeve?




ll POOR QuarLITY
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A. Yes, sir.
Q . That pin was worth how much?
C RO S S8 EXAMIDNATZ11I O N.
By Mrf Berlingexr:
Q - Where did Mr. Sanborn come from?

A, He was in the store; at the other end of the show-case
Did you leave from behind the show-case after Mr. Sanborn
came; did you come from the front of the show-case?

A. I put the pins back into the wray and went out for an
officeys.

Was that before Sanborn came 0 where the two men were?

A. No, sir.
Did you cone to the front at the same time that you called
for Sanborn¢® A. No, sir; 1 stayed whe re
I was.
When My. Sanborn came and did what you have told us, taking
-the pin from the sleeve of this def® ndamt ~- that happened
‘when you were behind the case?

A: Yes, sir.
You looked straight out?

A. I was looking at him.
What time of wuay was this, about noon?

A, Retween 4 and 5 o'clock.
In the evening? A. In wne afirernocn.
Was the gas 1lit in your store, or do you have an electiric

light? A. We have gas, but it was not lite.

Court:

Q There was light there? A. Yes, sir, Tuesday afternoon.

By Mr. Berlinges:
Q | Did you near either of these men make any explanation, or do
4 t

i
i
Vi

1

!
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you know any explanation they made at the time the officer
came, Or when Mr. Sanborn came out to them at the finding

of the pin% A. 1 couldn't understand what

they were talking aboute.
thé Court:
Q é You went out, you left these two gentlemen in the care of
Sanborn; ,;ou went out for an officer?
A. Yes, sir; Mr. Sanborn closed the door and kepit them
ine.
‘Did the officer comg? A. Yes, sir.
Is he here? A. Yes, sir, he is nere,;, Offi-
cer Collins.
Berlinger:
l:ln whose possession was the pin when Yyou and the officewr
" ecame back? A. Mr. Sanborn's. .
.Court:
I suppose Mr. Sanborn, after he took it out of his sleeve
didn't give it back t© him? A. No, sir.
tBerlingef:
l.Or the other man eithe r? A. No?
gAt any time did you see that Pin and the card that it wasg
- attached o on the floor? A. No, sir.

. You are sure about that? A. Sure, yes, sir.

It didn't drop on the f£100r? A. No, sir.

ELMER E. SANBORN, sworn and examined, testified:
iMacdona:
Q ;Mr. Sanborn, what is your bus ine;ss? A. Jeweler.
Q §Whereabouts do you carry °n ine business?

{

A. 231 West 125th street, this city.
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Do you rememberxr seeing tais defendant Escelona, this first
one, in your s tore, on the 10th of Octoberxr, in the aftennoogl
about 5 o'clock? A. Yes, sir.

And also this other defendant, Quintano?

A. Yes, sir.

Tell the Court and jury what you saw them doing, and how
your atrvrtention was attracted tO tnem?

A. My attention waw first called as the clekk calk.d me.
Court:
The clerk was Mr. Barcalow?® A. Yes, sir; he calleq
to me, as 1f there was some trouble petween them there, and
Istepped along and 1 said, "Charlie, what is the trouble?"
He said, "This man is trying to steal a pin."
Macdona:
"T’his man, " rgferfing to which ¢f these defe ndants?

A. To the one tnis way, without the beard.
Court:
That is Escelano? A. Yes, sir.
Go on? A. And 1 stepped along on the oppos-
ite side of the Bhow-case from the clevrk, beside the party
whiom he sesmed 1o have the trouble with.
You stepped out from benind your counter, did you, y iy
show~case? : A. 1 was not pehnind the coanter.
You stepped from somewhe r=9% A. I moved along tovards
tneme. '
Did you get on the same side they were; were thney both to-
gethexr then? A. Yes, sir.
What did you o wke n you gotv there%

A. I touched him on the slceve.

Touched Escelona?®




POOR QUAL
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Go on¢% A. And drew ine pin from tnis sileeve,

I took hold of tne right hand, of this sleeve; tne young
man was right across ithe show-case, and nad noidof ais
wrist, like this, and I pulled the pinfrom his eleeve
here( illustraiing).
Was the pin in the piece -of card-board?

A, Yes, sir.
How large is the card, about?

A. 1 should say three and a half inecnes iong and an inch
wide.
What aid you say wen you got it ocut of tne sleeve?

A. They seemed to tvalk itogether

(Objected to)

Did they talk together? A. Tney duid; I didn't an-
derstand the langusge, so I uon't know wnat Tney were say-
ing.
Macdona:
After they valked together, did Quintanc say anyining 1o
you, did this man with the beard say anythning, or converse
with the man? A, Yes, sir; the oniy itning
I could understand -—-hne had been only here three monins,
and wanted me to let nhim of#f.

You did not? A. No, sir.

.

Your boy went for an officer, and an officer came in and
arrested them% A. 1 told ine clerk to put
up the goods and go and get an off cer, which ne did.

Court:

| You shut the door? A. No; 1 stood rignt thers,

and they stood.

Macdona:

| Bnat became of that pin? A. It was tvaken to wae




solice svatiocn ia e ey, officer, z2m l1=Ffz

nacas o taese Court-

¥y ¥WE N you

Fnere itnese

andersIana y0w cerreetly g

correect?

Wasr

THOMAS COLLINS, E . SxX=zminea

- : s
, Testified:

By Mr. #Macdona:

Q z FOuU arrested These IWC dS® o ant

10%n of Ocitbes,

A. Yes s




Did youa search them when you got them 10 tne station nousev
A. Yes, sir.

What did you find on Quintano?
A. I found $1l.1=.

Did you search the oiiler one, HEscelona?

A. Yes, sire.

What did you find on him? A. I found some pawntickers.

Any moneyse A. No, sir.
Did you nave zZny conversation wiin Quintano?
A. No, sir.
And you =<cck ine pin, did you; wnat became of thatr }.in?
A. I leit 11 in tne station houase, and Tney sent it to
tne Property Clerk.
Berlinger:
You found, officer, $1l.12 on which one c¢f these men; Quin-
Tanc? A. Yes, sir.
Court:
And a lot ofpawn-tickeis on tne otner one, and no money?

A. Yes, sir.

MR. MACDONA: That 18 the case ior tne

THE CASE FOR TEE DEFENCE.
VISCENTA ESCELONA, sworn and examined througn the O:ficidl
Interpreter, testified:
By dir. Berlingesr:
Q How 1long have you been in tnis countery?
A. Three montns.

Q@ ' Wnzti were you docing, what didyou cane here for?




A. 1 am a student.

What were you studying? A. A dentist student.

Where were you living? A. In Third avendse, be iween
1li4th and 1l4th streets.

Where did you come from?% A. From Porto Ricoe.

Do you remember going in Mr. Sanborn's jewelry store last
Tuesday? . A. 1 think it was about the 10th of
October.

What did you go in there for?

A. 1 regeived a 1le vter from my brother, in whien it was

announced t0 me that he will senmd to me a hundred dollars,
and my brotner szid in tle letter that he wanted tnat I
should buy for nim a pin, a nice rin, ne said it should not
coat more than $z20.00 or $25.00.

Court:

Who said that? A. My brcther wrote nme in ihe
letter that I shall lock and see if 1 can buy a nice pin.
Where was nis brother living; in tnis city®

A. He lives in Porto Rico.
Berlinger:
Is that right? A. Yes; ne lives in Porio Rico.
And tnen you went to Mr. Sanborn's jewelry store?

A. 1 had no ing#ention to buy a2 pin; we went ocut to tale
;a walk, 1 and tnis man.
 Coart:
‘Quintano? A. Quintano; and as we rFassed

the store, and saw sO0 many Jewelry exposed there in a S how~-

case, then we wniered to find out wWhat is the price of those

artlcles. Then the young man he brougiit out s ane pins; hne

showed them to us, and I took one pin to look at it, and it
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fell outr of my nand, and then I was about taking up the pin
from the floor, and he caugnt me by the wrist, and he took
the pin away from me, so 1 couldn't examine it. Then afier
a i1ittle while the policeman came and arrested me, and I
was searched aftewrwards.
Did you steal any pin thsre?
intention of stealing a pin.
S S EX AMINATTI O N.
Macdona:
Ask him where ne is studying deniistry?

A. I had already studied, in Havanna,; but 1 was only
three montins nere, and I had not commenced t0o study yet
dentistry.

What had he been doing during the three montihs that ne nas

been here? A. 1 brought here $150.00 when 1

came here, and I lived on that money, and I expected money
from my brother.
He says ® lived on what avenue?

A. On Third avenue, between 13tn and l4th Streectse.
Hsk nhim if it 1s not true tnat ne lives at 211 East 1llih
street? A. 1 haw. been living there one mcnth.
Wny‘ did nhe say he lived on Third avenue, near l4th stireet,
Wnen he lived at 211 East llth street?

A. Before 1 lived at that place, I lived twnei= in Third
avenue.
And he nasn'tit done any work nere, nas he; ne is a student?

A. 1 was 1o enter college.

the' Court:

Q

-’TWhaT, college? A, I was first to go t0 school

‘gand to learn English, and then to study dentistry.

i
i
it
i
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Did he go 10 school?®? A. No, 1 was not to school

Yet, butr that was my plan, whati 1 nad 10 do hers, to leasrn
English and then study aentistry.
Wny did he tell the Judge who examined him Firs T,
was a clerk? A. No; 1 didn't szy so.
him what brought him up ©o 125th sweet; wnat was e
doing in 1lz5wn street, at 5 o'clock on the aiternoon of
Tuesday, Ociober 10% A. Just taking a walk; go-
ing arocuand T o0 sse tne city.
Ask him i1f it is not true, that, judst befcre hne went there,
some days before he went 10 wake this walk in Harliem, he
bPawned sore of nis clotiies? A. Yes, sir, thnat is
50, %0 pay my expenses until money comes irom Porto RicO.
He had no money; ne nad to pawn his clothes to get money?
A. Yes, sir; for that 1 pawned my clothes.
Berlinger:
You get mcney from nome; do you? A. 1 expecited a
remiitance; expected a hundred dollars.
Buit youa got money previous———-——-—- -
THE COURT: He saz2id ne did.
Courz:
Ask him how long he knows Quintano?
A. One monthn.
Where did he get acyuainted witin Mr. Quinitzno?
A. In 119th street and Third avenue.
Wnat kind of a place is it? A. On tae corner 1
" metr him.
~Met him on the corner of the streec? A. Yes, sinr.

" Does e know whe re Quintano lived? A. He lived with me.

iHe lived with you, where; 211 East llth street?
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A. In llun street; yes, sir.
Does Quintano speak Spanish? A. Yes, sir.
Whnere did you meet Quintano that mo rning, or that aay, thawu

ne went 10 this jeweler's? A. We went out f.rom

my room togethewr, to take a walk.
Wnat did Quintanc do for a living?

A. He is an interpreter.
Does ' work au anytning? A. He told m =wuat ne
is interpreter in a hovel.
Wnat hot el? A. 1 don't know; ne said that he
is an intesprezer in a hotel.
Beriinger:
met the other de-

What street comerwas it that youa Tirstu

fendant? A. 19th street.

It is not 119th street? A. 19tn streat.

FRANK QUINTANO , sworn and examined, testified:
Berlinger:
How long naw youa been in this country?
A. Three years.
And naw you been employea wnile you nae been here?
A. Yes, sir.
Anua wnat at? A. 1 naw been employed wish

Bartow , Lows & Co.
Court:
Where do they keep; wnere is his store?
A. They are closed already, the office, las=z week.
Where was the orffice? A. 11 Burling siip.

- Whnat were you doing ther=e? A. Salesman and corprespondert
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Berlinger:
Where were you employed last?
A, 1 was in the Leonard House.
Whnere is thatt? A, 33rd sireev anu PFifih aw nue,
a hovel.
Wnat were you working at there? A, As hal:.~boy.
And how long were you employed taere?
A. I was employed a month.
Have you ever been convicted o any crime, in any couniry?
A. No, sir.’
You are sure of that? A. Yes, sir.
Where ald you first meet this otier deid ndant, Escelona?
A. 19th street and Third aven ue.
Wnent A. About a month ago.
Before that, had you ew r known nim or seen nim?
A. No, sir; never.

Now, on the day that you went to lbtn street withh nim,
where did you meet him, or where did you start i'rom togetnes
A. The iirst time 1 metv him, in Tanird aw nue and 19wh

street, ne diun't know any Fnglish; 1 was out of w ork, 1
was interpreter for some people. He saw me; ne said, YDo
youspeak Spanisn?" I said, "Yes; 1 am Spanisn, and 1 speak
English." He said, "I want to .hav.e sonebody to snow me tne
city and many things.?" Then ne rvook a room with me; he pays
every week;, ne used 10 pay me a docllar or two dollars fowr
‘my exX.enses. That day ne got up, and said, "Frank, 1 will
receive a nundred aollars from my nome; 1 am gcirge to iuy
that pin for my brothewr that he wrote to me about;" and then
he said, "I want to see the city, ur-town." We took the
%;Sixtn avenue elevated and went up to 1L:25th street. Cruossing
i

15
i
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over 1Z5th street, ne saw some pins, and ne said, "Oh, I

want 1t o sce the price of wnose pinsg; c¢can yoa come with me injj
and ask for the priceg® 1 say, YAll rignt; 1 will ask," u.nd
I went and asked for the pins, asked for tre price; and, wnenf
I was locking, my attention was attractea by a nocise, and
I saw the man grasp his hand, and say, "You si0le a dia—
mond pin." Then 1 told the man 1 uidn't know wnat; 1
thougnt he wanted it, because ne was going to nave money
from home; he had plenty of money, as 1 seen many times~--— —
many people know him in the restaurant where 1 took 1 im.
You didn'v go in there with the iniention o f stea ing any
pin fromMe. Sanborn? A. No, sir.
Or aid and ass$st anybody or nelp anybody in taking any
from Mr. Sanborn?® A. No, sir; 1 was interpre-
Teixr,
Did you know anything about the pin be ing feund in the de-
fendant's sleeve before your at® ntion was call ed to it

A. When my attention was called, 1 saw the man hav ing

the pin in his hand; 1 said, "Did you iniend to steal this
diamond pin??®
Tne boss came? A. 1 said, "This man intended
to buy this diamond pin." The boss then called a policeman
and nandcuflfed him. Tne poiice:zrlén said, "You will come,
too. " I said, "Yes, I will go," and I went to tke s ta-
tion house.

By the Coursi:
You went with ta policeman?
Berliingew:
And the other man went with tne policeman?

A. Yes, sir.
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at 1l89th street?

Macdona:

How long have you known this other def ndant?

A. A monthne.
Where were you living when you met nim first, on the sweet, ;
A. 1 was 1living in 17th i
street; 1 don't remember the number clearly, because this ig:
a month ago.

Then a montn ago Yyoa met nim, and tnen you wereliving in
17tn st ereet? A,
You do not nave any difiiculry ip unuerstaroling me;, U6 you?

A. No, sir.

Nor in understanding the counsel, or trne Jaage; yOu under-
stand every thing that is said nere, in Englisn?

A. Yes, sir.

Why aia ,ou tell the Judge, when you were examined in

court, that you lived in 214 East 1l1th street,vfor four
months? A. May be I misunderstood; 1 cidn'z
mean to tell such a thing.

Dia you have any difficualiy in understun ding tnis simple
question: "Q. Where do you live, and how long have you

lived there? A. In 1lilth sireet, a month, the same time
that 1 know nim.?" Is tnat your signature, Y“YFrank QUintano?"g

A. Yes, sip.

You signed that paper, in the Police Court?

A. Yes, sir; may be I misunuerstcod what they did ask me.
You knew what your name was? &. Yes, siu
You to;d them your name was PFrank Quintano? A. Yes, sir.

You wold them that you weretwenuiy~three years of age?

A. Yes, sir.
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You told them where ycu were born, in Havanna?

A. Yes, sir.
And he sz id, "'Wher-e do you live, anad how long have you
lived ther®?" and you said, "211 East lltn streetv, iur
monthse" A. No, sir; may be 1 misunde rs tood.
How did you come to get t0 the West siude elev-ted, from
your house in litnh street, to take tne staiion? Did you
take tne west s ide ‘elevat,ed?

A. 18tn street and Sixth zvenue.
You went tnrougn Union Square; didn't you?

A. 1 can't really say.
You went from 211 REast llih sireet; did you $0 throughn
11th s treet% _ A. 1 won't remember; but 1
think we walkeq_ over to Third avenue, and turned around and
went over toSixth avenue.
Through 18tnh stireet? A. Yes, sir.
On the w‘;a‘y up frorﬁ 1lwn to 18th street, and on the way
across 18th street towards ithe West s ide elevated, did you
see any oOther jewelry s tore; was tne attention of sour
friend attracted t0o any other shop?

A. No; 1 don't remember.
You goet out at 125th street and Ninth ave nue?

A. Yes, sir.
How far from Ninth avenue is tie shop of Mr. Sanborn?

A. I think it is nalf a block.
About half a bluck up, 236%

A. Yeg sir.
Did you notice any other Jewelry store on the way to twnat
Place; do you remember Passing another jewelry 2 tore, on

the same s ide of the street, with a show-window in it?
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'-A. 1t may be; I uaon't rerember weltl.
Your atiention, or your friend's atieniion was
ed 10 any store; youa didn't notice any s iore?
A. No, sir.

None but this Sanborn sio0 re%

THE JURY D1ISAGREED.
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CHARLES O. BARCALCW, testified that he is a salesman for

Mr.Sanborn, a jeweler, at 236 West 125th Street. On

Cetober 1Cth he, the witness, saw the defendant £o

intoe the store.between 4 and 5 o'clock, The defendi-

ént was in company with Viscente Escelona. The
defendant asked to see some scarf rins, worth about
$3¢C or $4cC. The pins were on caris,vwith the prices
marked, and were a-ranged in rows in the trays. The
defendants looked over all the pins, and then selected
the one in court, andi asked the price of it The
defendants conversed with cach other in Spanish. ' The
witness 4id not understanid that langiare. Quintano
asked the price, and he, the witness, saii $55, and
Quintano handed the pin to the co-defendant then. As
Quintano handed the pin to the co~defendant, he spoke
to the co-~defendant, who made some reply. The witness
4did not understand them. Then the defendant asked the
witness if he, the witness, had énything moré showy.
The witness said no, at the same +time stepping about
three feet toward the window, to seec if there was any

rins there. He walked away side ways, but came right
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back, and noticed that the rin was gone. The witness
look at-both iéfeniants, and noticed that the other one
had his sleeve against the showcase; that is, Escelona.
He, the witness, grabbeld Escelona's hand, ani callead

for !Mr.Sonborn. The other defendant was standing

adongside of Escelona. At the time Mr.Sanborn took
the pin from the other defendant's sleeve, neither
defendant said anything in Bnglish; they conversed in

Spanish.

CROSS~-EXAMINATICN
the witness testified that the defendant said, "We
want to see some scarf pins." The defendant picked
cut the pin in evidence and handed it to his co~defend-
“ant, who looked at it and then returned it to the
defendant, who placed it back in the tray. The
defendants conversed in Spanish as they examined the
pins. He, the witness, knew the deseription of most
of the pins in the tray. The defendant asked to see
some more showy pins, and then lzil -down the pin
in gquestion, and it wés in the tray when he, the

witness, turned around to look in the window, but he




4
changed his minid, and turned again to the tray. The
prins were on cards, and arranged in rows in the tray,
so that if a pin was taken from the tray, there was a
vacant or empty space left, and the absence of the pin
could be noticed at once. He, the witness, thought
there were more showy pins in the windiow, and started
to go to it, when, remembering that there was none
in the winiow, he turned back, and saw that the pin

in evidence was gone, and he saw Escelona's slesve

held against the case, and acting suspiciocusly, and he,

the witness, grabbed Escelcna's arm, and called Mr.
Sanborn.
I
RE DIRECT-EXAMINATION
the witness testifieu that the pin in question was the
highest priced pin in the case. There were no scarf

pins in the window, that he, the witness, knew of.

ELMER E.SANBCRN testified +that he is a jeweler, at 236
West 125th Street. RBetweon his, the witness's, store

and 8th Avenue, there are two stores--two jewelry stores,
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one in a basement and one at 264. In th: afternoon of
Cctober 1Cth he, the witness was in his store. There
might have been a few scarf pins in the window that day;
he, the witness, was not certain. Mr .Barcalow called
him, the witness, on the day in question, andi he went
to Mr.Rarcalow's assistance, ani took from the defend-
ant Escelona's sleeve the pin in evidence. The pin
was attached to the card, in mhm Escelona's sleeve.
The pin was worth $55; it cost $60 to manufacture.
When he, the wit ess, took the pin from Escelona’s
sle=zve, he told Mr.Barcalow to 0o get an officer, and
then Quintano said, "Don't do that. He has been here
three months." Tie, the witness, told the defendants
to stay in the store, and he sent a boy for a
polic2man. The boy remained awzay 7 to 1C minutes,
and, ﬂuring that time, he, the witness said nothing to
the defendants, ar they to him.

In
CRCSS—-EXAMINATICN
the witness testified that he could not say positively

whether or not there were wcarf pins in the window
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that day. Mr.Shaw was in the store before the
defendants came in; no one else came in while the

defendants were.there. The formal questions were

asked the defendants at the station-house. Both defendi-
ants showed a perfect willingness to remain, when told

to do so, while a messenger went for a policeman.

THOMAS COLLINVS testffied that he is an officer of the
Municipal Police, zattached to the 30th Precinct/’ On
Cctober 1Cth he was called to Mr.Sanborn's store, at
256 West 225th Street, ani he arrested both defendants.

They said they lived at 211 West 11lth Sireet. He

searched both defendants and found no money on Escelona
and $1.12 on Quintano; both had pawntickets. The
defendant 4id not converse with tite witness.
In
CROSS-ERAMINATICGN
the witness testified that, on entering the store,

Mr.Sanborn said that Escelona had stolen a pin, and
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both defendants came in the store together.

THE DEFENSE.

FRANK QUINTANO, one of the defendants, testifiedl that he
had bean in this country nearly three years. He came
from Havana, where his father, who is wealthy, lives,
His object in coming to this country was to learn Eng-
lisn. He was employed by Barretto, Roach % Co., as
cérre;péniing salesman, in the se¢gar business. In the
summer he used to meet rich Spaﬁiaris, and show them
the City, and interprest for them. That fi»m closed,
and he lost his position, and, afterwards, acted as
interpreter. He received $150 o1 $200C from his Ffather
"during the summer He became acgquainted with Escelona
about one month before his arrest. He met Escelona
at 19th Streest ani 3ri Avenue, and, seeing he was a
Spaniard andi a stranger, he, the witness, spoke to Es-
celona. He, the witness, said to Esecelona, "Would
you 1 ike to have an interpreter, like me," ani Escelona
said, "Yes; I will have you. I will give you a dollar

= 'iqy, 2nd if T ecan give ¥o11 more, T will g'ivp zO11
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more.," Escelona spent a good deal of moneyngoing to
the theatres, and other places. Then Escelona hired a

room, and invited him, the witness, to share it with him,

and he, the witness, who hai no money, at that time,
accepted the offer. Escelona said that he had beoen

in the country only two months. He, the witness,
thought Escelona was a rich man, as he spent consider-
able money , and saiil that he expected more from his
people in Porto Rico. Escelona said that he had re-
ceived a letter from his father, asking him, Escelona,
to buy a scarf pin for his, Escelona's, father. On

the day in question Escelona said he would like to see
the principal parts of the City, ani they took an
elevated train to 125th Street, and, in prassing Mr.
Sanborn's store, Escelona stopped at the store window
and said, "Look at the pretty pins. I Willinquire

for them, and I will see a diamond pin for $20 to $30.
Will you interpret for me, Frank?" He, the witness,
said he would, ani they went in the store, and he askedi
to see pins ranging in price from $30 to $4C0. As the
defendants were looking at the piﬁs, the clerk grabbed

Escelona's hand, and said, "This young fellow intends
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to steal from me."and he calledi Mr.Sanborn. The
witness said, "YThis must be a mistake, because I
4didn't think this fellow can do those things, be-
cause he looks like a rich fellow, andi he has bt2en here
only three months." Then Mr.Sanborn sent for a police-
man, who came and arrested both defeniants.

In

FROSS~-EXAMINATION

the witness testified that his father's name was Arthur
Quintano, and he is a lawyer in Havana. He, the
witness, 4id not reiturn to Cuba, after learning English,
becausé he learned that his country was involved in
political troubles. He, the witness, was living én 7th
Street, between 2nd and 3rd #venue ,and Escelona was
living in 3rd Avenue between 183th and 18th seéreet,
when they first met each other The defendants
spent a good deal of their time, especially at night,
at the theatres, coneern halls, andi cafes. They 4id
not visit the €uban colony in this City. Escelona 4id
not have dealings with any bank in this City, to his,
the witness's, knowledge. He, the witness, received

from his father $160 through a Wall Street bank.




POOR QUALITY |
ORIGINAL |

He, the witness, paidi no rent when he roomed with
Escelona. Escelona paid him $1 a day for interpreting.
He paid the money at the end of every day. He , the
witness, 4id not remember whether he said, in his direcct
examination, that his father or his brother sent him a
letter instructing him to purchase a scarf pin. He
meant to say his father. The pin in evidence, People's
Exhibit No.l, was not the pin that the clerk hald in
his hand. The middle stone of the pin that the clerk
had in his hand was a rel stone. When the clerk took
hold of Escelona's wrist he haid this pin in his hani,
and 4ii not take it out of Escelona's slecve; tho'
he, the witness, was not certain on thispoinp. The
witness testified, further, "I was looking at another
pin, andi when I turned around I saw that he has
grabbed him by the wrist, andi has the pin in his
handiy It was not true, the witness testified, that
he asked the clerk for moré¢ showy pins, and the clerk
4id4d not walk a short distance away from where he, the
witness stood. When Escelona was accused of the

crime, he, the witness said, "What is the maiter,
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Escelona?" ani Escelona said, "I 4don't know." That was
all that was saidi. When arrested, He, the witness.
had $1.12 and Escelona hai no money. He, the witness,
paid Escelona's carg fare on the Elevated to 125th
Street that day, because Escelonz hai no money. They
rawned their clothes when short of fundis. On GCctober
7th he, the witness, pawned his vest for 87 cents,
under the name of Wider. He, the witness, 4ii not
pavn two pairs of stockings, for 23 cents, on the Hday
before he went to Harlem. When asked about another
pawntickefkbearing'the name of "Wider," the witness
said, “ell, Escelona must know somethirg about that.
Mr.Escelona muist know abmething about it, because some-—
times he put his pawntickets in my pocketbook." THe
witness identified some of the pawntickets as belonging
to him. Some of the pawntickets were in Escelona's

name, but claimed by Quintano.

3)23)))))))

MANUEL J. SUAREZ testified that he was acquainted wth
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The defendant Quintano, ﬁﬁﬁ The witness was a clerk
for J.M.Ceballos,® Co., Rankers and Commission Merc-
chants, at 8C Wall Streect. That firm acted as corres-—
pondents for Quintano's father, and paii him money on
several occasions. The defendant's reputation is good.

In
CROSS-EXAMINATICN

the wiitness testified that he had seen the defendant
several times, during the three years past, at the
office. He, the witness, knew the defendant Hnly be-—
cause he had seen him, the defendant, at the office.
Ceballos % Co. have not paid the defendant any money
in a long time; they have nothning to 4o with him Now,

or for about seven months.

Mr.Barcalow, testified, in rebutial, that, at the time

that he took hold of Escelona's wrist he, the witness,
had no pin in his hani. There was no pin in the ti&,

with a red stone, that he showed the defendiant. There
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were no pins with red or reddish stones; only,diiamoni

pins and gold pins.

Vi
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CHARLES G.BARCALCOW, testified that he is a salesman for
Mr . Sanborn, Jeweler, at 236 West 125th Street. On
October 10th he saw the defendant enter Mr.Sanborn's
store.in company with Frank Quintano, between 4 and 5
o'eclock in the afternoon. They wanted to see some
scarfpins. Quintano asked to seco the pins. The wit-
ness took out a tray, ani showed them the pins, and they
admired one, and asked the price. The witness said
it was $55. Then they asked to see other pins, and
the witness turned to get them, anid, upon returning
to the tray which he ad placed in front of the two
men, he noticed that the pin was gone. He immediately
seized +the defendant ani called for Mr.Sanborn. When
the withess turned to get the other goods, he left
the two defendants standing in front of the counter,
with the tray on the counter by them. The witness
saw Mr.Sanborn take the pin out of the defendant's
sleeve. He had it between his skin and his cuff.

In

CROSS3EXAMINATION
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When Mr.Sanborn came up, hre, the witness, had the
defendant's hand, across the showecase, but he 4il not,
at that time, see the pin. The defendant szaid something

in Spanish; he d4id not speak English.

ELMER E. SAMRBRCORN testified that he is a jeweler, at 236
West 125th Street. The pin shown to him was his
ppoperty, and he valued it at $55. It cost him $65,
but the party for whom it was ordered, 4id not take it,
and he marked it down to $55. He sa w the defendant
and Quintano enter his store on the afiernoon in gues-
tion. He was talking to a gentleman, in t=e store,
when Mr.Barcalow called him, ani he sprang between the
defendants and the door. The pin was on the card, in
the defendant's shirt sleeve of the left arm. Quintano
said, YLet him go. He has becen here only three
months." The defendants talksd to gether, but the

witness 4id not understanid them.
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VISCENTE

THOMAS CCOLLINS, testified that he is an Cfficer of the

Municipal Police, attached to the 3Cth Precinct.

Cn Cctober 10th he, the witness, was summone-d

to Mr.Sa born's store,; arrested the two defendants.
He searchel the defendants, and found $1.12 on
Quintano and nothing on the other defendiant. Both
defendants, however, had pawntickets in their

procketse.
THE DEFENSE.

ESCELONA, one of the defendants, testified that
he lived at 200 1llth Street, and had been in this
country three months.A He d4id not steal the
rin, as alleged. He went in the store to buy a
pin for his brother for $25 to $30, ani he hai
the pin in his hanidi when they grabbed him and
accused him of stealing it. His brother was,in
Porto Rico, anid wrote but 4id not seni any money
with which to buy the pin. He, the defendant

had been out of money about one month, and hail

to
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FRANK

QUINTANG,

to pawn his belongings until he could get money

MG -
from Porto Rico, but the hadnhaé not yet arrived.

the co~defendant, testified that he did not
intend to steal the pin. He went into the

store, with theother defendant, as interpreter.
He met the co-defendant in 19th Streest and %rid
avenue about a month before his, the witness's
arrest. Then they took a room together, and the_
other defendant spent a good deal of money on the
witness, for the theatres, cafes, etc. They went
out for a walk, andi, when in 125th Strect, in
passing the complainant's store, they looked in
the window, and the co-jdefendant admired the
rins, and they went in the store to look at them.
They 4id not intend to steal. The defendant
testified, further, "Ani we went in, and I said

I would 1 ke to sec pins, from $20 to $30, andi
the clerk brought the case and put it just in
front of me, and that was at the side, ani
tleman came in the store, and I turned my

to look, and when I turned around again the

clerk had hold of his(the codefendant's)hand, ani
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called the boss, and we was arrested."
In
CRCSS~EXAMINATICN

the witness testified that the co-defendant
wanted him to go uptown and show him the principal
parts of the City. He, the witness, admitted
that he knew that he and his co-defendant had no
money, at the time that they went into the store
to look at the pins, an’, moreover, that they had
prarned some of their clothing,in order to raise
money, some time before. The pin shown to him,
the witness, was not, he saidi, the pin that he

had seen in the store, or that the eclerk had

shown to them. He, the witness, 4id not see the |
rin referred to in the co-defendant's possession.
It was not the pin that 1he clerk iiau i=- i2is hand.
He, the witﬁess, 4id not ask the stdré clerk to

show him some more showy pins.

REBUTTAL.
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CHARLES 0. BARCALGW, being recalled, testified that the

defendants asked to see pins of the price of

$3C or $4C. The price of the.pin in question
was given to the defendants. The price of

2all the pins is mm marked in plain figures,

on the back, just as the pin in evidence. There
is no pin in the tvry with a red stone in it. He,
the witness, saw the pin taken out of the sleeve
of the defeniant. Mr.Sanborn took it out. It
was nor true that he, the witness, had the pin
in his hand at the time that he took hold of the

defendant's hand.
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Conrt of General Sessious of the Peace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

T ProPLE OF THE STATE oF NEw YOonrk

against
<2 .- M/x

4 th//

.. The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York, by this indictment, accuse

/CAOC s L. é\méﬁﬂ/( ‘c// \%_d z/l_/ QZ/(_A/ < zeo

of the CriME or GRAND LARCENY IN THE _. ¢ <. -Cor ‘7/(_/4 DEGREE, committed
C

as follows:

The saicd %/C"Q/ QL/%}CC« 6/QC '{a'“‘~»/'~—/"<—/ ’ @aa—-&

LN
\.—'ZK_’P // \2/(/(/ 2 Z; o ) T &Z

- yd
late of thed()‘iy of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the “//é/QLMLI

3

day of W P in the year of our Lord, one thousand eight hundred and
ninety- Z7/Cwe ¢ _ at the City and County aforesaid, with force snd arms,
4

e g o P
\‘ _ jz;v\e ' M/ét/LM |

)
=
of the goods, chattels and personal property of one CO’(Z"’LVZ éﬂkﬂ’ivzm/vm/-

then and there being found, then and there feloniously did steal, take and carry away, against

the form of the statute in such case made and 1)1ov1ded 'md against the peace of the People

of the State of New York and their (h”nlm /{4 k‘:? .
/<,< < z"/‘@/éﬁ

(7(%




BOX:
536

FOLDER:
4882

DESCRIPTION:

Eteay, Robert H.

DATE:
10/13/93

I

4882
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COURT OF GENERAL SESS1IONS OF THE PFACE, Part

City and County of New York.

B9 1P TR LT AT RPORD O U0 P NP T GO OGP VR YR YD 0N NP AT RF 02 U7 VP VP OO0 WP 00 VP 7

The People,

Before
VS .

HON. FREDFR1CK SMYTH,

ROBERT H. ETXEAU.

and a Jury.
TP AP TP AL TR BT ORR YR RF LR NP NP 0D OF A7 IP T OGP O Mt UF P YT AP AP M2 AP OO WPV

Tried, DECEMBER 5TH, etec., 1£93.

indicted for BURGLARY, in the TH1RD DEGREE.

lndiectment filed OCTOBER 13TH, 1893.

APPEARANCES:

ASSISTANT DL1STR1CT ATTORNEY HARRY W. MACDONA,

For THE PFROPLE.

J. OL1VER KEANE, ESQU1RE,

For THE DEFENSE.




Mi1CHAFL MeDONOUGH, being duly sworn, testified that he was a police

officer, attached to the 28th Precinet. On the
night of the 10th of October, 13%3, his tour of
duty was from 12 tc 6 A. M. His post was Fourth
avenue, {'rom 96th to 106th st,reets'. He first saw
the defendant on Fourth avemie, between 97th and
98th streets. The defendant "was walking up against
the wall that guards the railyocad cut, and had a
bundle in his arms. He walked over to the defend-

ant and asked him where he was going. The defendant

said he was going homse. He asked the defendant what

he had in the bundle, and the de fendant said, "1
have got wash." He said, "What are you doing out
with wash, at this time of night?" The defendant
said, "l am taking it to my mother, to do it for a
poor family that is going to Chicago in ths mom-
ing." He said to the defendant, "Let us go over
under the light and see wh at the wash looks like."
He and the defendant walked over undeyr the light,
and he told the defendant 1L o0 open the bundle. The

defendant said ne waildn't do it. He whistled for




Officer Sullivan, and,

Sullivan if he kn=w_the
said th:at he d4did not.

amni

ne

t0o open the irundle,

house. Tha Sergesant

searcned the defendant, and

taining four pawn-tickets in
the defendant was locked up,
presence of tnhe Sergeant and
The bundle

and contained a sealskin

coat and ulsséer snown to him

torney
There was a
the coat, an

the ulster.

asked the defem ant

was covered with

coat

were the ones that wer

Onr one of the risces

what

"There ;

pocket-book con-— |

his possession. After

he, tnhe witness, in the

th2 doorman, opened
a blanket,

and an ulster. The

Iy xr
~ -

e 1in

ox




ten, "William A. Thompson, 510 Manhattan a venue ,

City, 4th floor, South." He went to the address

on the paper, next morning, avbout half-past 9
o'~rlock. He went up to the fouvrth floor, and foand
the doors loéked. He then had a conyersation with
the janitor of the building, and, in consequence of
ithatr conversation he went to a drug store at the
corner of 121st street and Manhattan ave mie. While
in the drug store he met the agent of the house at
110 Marhattanavenue, Mr. Barnett. He and Mr. Bar-
nett went through the entire house, with the excep-
tion of the conplainant's aprartment s, which were lokk
ed. He, the wiitness, returned to tne Premises on
the same afternoon, about 3 olcloeck, and met Mr.
Barnett at tha2 door. He went up to the complain-
ant's apartments with Mr. Barnect. He took the com-
plainant to the station house, and she ident ified
the coat, ulster and blanket as b eingtherproperty
of herself and her husband.

In cross—-examination the witness testificd

that he had had a conversation with Thomas Goddeson;
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THOMP SON ,

but it was not a fact that he had accused Thomas God
deson of complicity in this crime. In an empty
flat, adjoining the premises supposed to have been
burglarized, he and the janitor found some clbthes
belonging to the defendarm. The janitor tol-d him
that the defendant had no right to enter that flat,
and that the flat was kept locked.

lrnn re-direct examination the witness tes-~
tified that there was a fire escape from one of the
windows in the wvacant flat. The fire escape formed
an L, and led from the window of the vacant flat to

the window of the conplainant's kitchen.

THE COMPLAINANT, being duly sworn, testified that
she lived at 510 Manhattan aveme. She knew the
defendant as the hall-boy of those premises. She
left her apartments on the 9Th of October, 1893,
and went to Brooklyn with hewr little boy, wher e she
sp@nf the night. Before leaving her apartment s she
saild to the defendant, "Robert, 1 have left our dog

with Mrs. Smith, the janitor, and possibly ) may




not be hone to~-night; and will you take out the dog,
as the janitor hasn't the time, and L will pay you
on my return." When she left the house, allthe
doors and windovs were locked or bolted. She re-
turned to her home on the night day, between 3 and
4 o'clock in the aft ernoon. On the way home she
stopped at the office of the agent of the flat, Mr.
Barnett, in 125th sticet. 1ln consequence of a con-
verstion that shs had with him, Mr. Barnett acecan-—
panied hér to her hane. Mr. Barnett went out, and

returned, about five minutes later, with the offi-

cer. As she was unlocking the door of her apart-

ments, "the dock shot back." She had no difficulty

in unlocking the door. The window in the kitchen,
leading to the fire escape, was open; the bolt hal
been drawn and pushed backs She knew of the robbery
before she got to her home. She missed her seal-
skin cocat, and her husband's ulster. She then went
to the police station, and identified the property
there shown to her as belonging to her. She was a

married woman. Her husband was a commercial travel-




er for V. Henry Rotschild & Co., and had been with
that firm twelve oy thirteen years. The value of
the sealskin coat was about $200., and the value of
the ulster was about $40. The coat, ulster am
blanket were in he» house when she left it on the
9th of October.,

1n cross-examination the complainant tes-—
tified that the defendant had been in her private
hall twice -- once when he had begged a shirt fran
her, and once when she had sent him for brandy. She
sent the defendant for brandy on two occasions. Her
husband was not at home when she sent for the brandy.

She nad sent the defendant for lager and porter when

her washwoman was there. She could not remesaember

the wash-woman's name, and did no: know her address.
Before the loss of the articles in question, her
husband had lost a Prince Albert coat and vest, and
a pair of trousers, He had repdrted that loss at
the police station. Nohody had access Lo her apart-

ment s but her husband and herself.

in re-direct examination the complainant
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testified that her family physician was Dr. Tred-

well. The brandy whiech she had sent the defendant

for, had been prescribed by Dr. Tredwell.

MOSES'-f BARNETT, being duly sworn, testified that he was a real es-—

tate dealer. His place of business was at 9 East

.
!
/ 125th street. He was the agent of the flat at 510

Manhat tan avenue. He corroborated the off icew and
the canplainant in regard to visiting the complain-

ant's apartments.

FOR THE DEFENSE, ROBERT H. ETEAU, THE DEFRENDANT, being duly sworn,

testified, in his own behalf, that he had lived in
New York sinee 1887. He had been employed for two
years and a half as a valet by J6hn D. Garrison,

since deceased. He had work ed in Lyrie Hall, on

Sixth averme beitween 4lst and 42nd streets. After
leaving the employm nt that he had at Iy'rie Hall,
he was employed at the Hotel Endicott. After that
he was employed by A, A. Ervine, of FErvine & Schnei-

der, and ramainedl in their employ until the t ime




of his arrest. His duties in the flat were to clean

the halls and vacant flats, ans go errands for the

tenants. He had been to grocery stores, liquor
saloons and pawn-shops Tor the canplainant. The
office='s testimony as to finding pawn-tickets in
his possession was twme. The first pawn-ticket was
for a pin, which had beem given to him by his byro-
ther. The second pawn-ticket was for a coat, vest
and pants, which were the pragoerty of the complain-
ant. That property had been giwven to him by the
complainant to pawn, and he gave her the money which
nhe received on it. The complainant told him to kccp
the ticket for her. The third ticket c¢alled for a
suit of clothes. That suit had been given to him by
his moth er topawn, ilTe bealiaved they belong=d to his

brother. The fairth ticket was for a coat and vest

that he pawned for the complainante. He got $’;§2. on

that prore rty and he gave the money to the complain-

ant. The canplainant gave him the ticket bLack,

saying that he had better keep it, as she might mis-
Place it, and she intended to get the goods out




in a short time. He saw the canplainant about hal £

a dozen times on the day in question. About half-
rPast 11 or 12 o'clock, the camplainant told him that
she was going away, and she vant ed him to take her
dog to the janitor and to take it out during the

day, as the janitor would not have time to take

care of it. About half an hour after that the can-

Plainant's little boy told him that the canplainant
wanted to see him, and he went to the dumb-waiter

and spoke through it to the complainamt. The c¢om-

Plainant said she was soing to send him some fooad

for the dog, and she sent it down on the dumbwaiter

He took the food off and placed it in a vacant coa l
cellar. About an hour after that he was aga in
called to the complainant's apartments, and he weant

into the parlor. There was a bundle, dcne uyp in a
blarket, lying on the lounge. The eonplainant tolgd
him that"there was in that bundle some goods that

she wanted him =zo dispose of, as he had disposed of

|
|
|
|

the others, for the sum of $75., if he caald; and,

if noty for what he could get." He took the bundle.




He left the flats about half-past 7 o'ecloeck that
night, and went up-town and cal led on a friand.
stayed with his friend until about half-past 10,
After leaving his fri end, he walked leisurely down
Eighth avemis, gazing in the windows, and turned

into 121st street, and went across to Saint N&#cholas

avenue, down the aveme to 113th street, thyrough
that street to Pifth avenue, down the aveme to
1092th st.reet, through that street to Park avemie,

and, on the west side of Park avenie to 98tn street.

MeDonough talking, on the West side of Park aveme.

He stood on the bridge for nearliy half an hour, and

5
|
When he was cerossing the bridge he heard Officer ,

then went towards 97th street. The officer accested
him, and ask=d him what he had in the bundle. The
officer took him over to a gas lamp, an d again asked
him what was in the bundle. 11 did not know ha t
was in the bundle, becruse it was done up when it
was given to him. He told the officer that he did
not know what was in the bundlej and the officer

told him that, if he did not know what was in the
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bundle, he waild have to iake him to the sta ion

house. The sergeant asked him what his name vas, am

he said that he had nothing whatevesr to say. His
mothewr lived at 203 Fast 97th street at that tine,
and he was on his way home. His reason for not
telling the Sergeant his name, address, &c, was that
he did not wish to have the case in the newspapers,;
and he thought, sinee the camplainant had employed
him to do the business :f‘o.r her, that as soon as she
found out that the goods were missing, she would &0

forward and say that she had given them to him, amd

that would end the matt er. He did not know what
was in the bundle until he saw it opened in coart.
He had never been arrested before. He rememb ered,
on his previous trial, having been charged with
being in a New Jersey prison at one time; that charge
was false.

ln cross-examination the witre ss testifi=d
that the things belonging to his brother hadbeen
pawned under the name of Johnson. His brother's

name was Eteau. The complainant's goods had been
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been in the New Jersey State Prison, and hewaild

not hawve emrployed the def endant if he had known that-i

MARGARRET ZO00DESON, be ing duvizy sSworn, testified that she was a mar-

risd wanane. She resided at 512 Marhattan averiie.
She knew thz de-2ndant as a hall-boy, and had always,
Touind h: im honest and trustworthy. She hadoften

2nt s ted the de fandant with the keys of hesr apart-

ment s.

R REBUTTAL,, JOSFKFPH ASHMOR®, being duly sworn, testified that he

#as a Deputy Kecper in the New Jersey State Prison, |

at Trenton. wWe had Occupied that position for about

!
fifteen yvears. He knew the defz2ndant and had known'f

ber 11, 1888, at which time the de-

fendant was under his care as a conviet . He was

Positive that th

2ad under his care. The de fgrd ant was discharged

l
e de fendant was the man whom he had )I
|

from the prison on May fAth, 1891. iHe had seen the

deferi ant in the Tombs s and identifi=d him.

in eross-examinat ion th= witness testifieq
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that he went to the Tombs with Officer MeDonough to

identify the def=2ndant. Officer MeDonough d4id not

g0 up on the tier with hin when he identifisd the

defendant.

THOMAS CARROLL, being duly swourn, testified that he reosided in

Trenton, New Jersey, and was a peputy Keepewr in the
New Jersey State Prisone. He had been in that posi-
tion four years. The defa2ndant worked in the de-
partment of which he was in charge during the year
1891. He was positiwve that the defz=ndant was the

man wnom he had seen in the New Jersey State Prison.

CLEMENT R1CHARDSON, beirg duly sworn, testified that he was the

keeper of the West Wing of the New Jersey St ate
Prison at Trenton. He had been in charge of that
wing from July, 1888, until the t ime of the trial.
The defendant was in that wing during the early

£all or» wintex of 1890.

GEORGE H. TREDWELL, being duly sworn, testifi=zd that he was a reg-
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nlarly graduated, Practising physician. Th 2 com~
pPlainant had been a rpatient of his. He gave the
complainant instruetions to t 2k ¢ brandy, whenever

she wvas at'flicted with cexrtain pains.

THE COMPLAINANT, being recal led, testified that she nevem gave

f
1

‘ the de fzndant anything to pawn for h er. The defend-
] anit never gave her the proceeds of the pawning of

|

{ any goods.

i
!

i
W1LL1AM A. THOMPSON, being duly sworn, testified that he was the

hushand of the canplainant. He had been mar vi ad

about five yvears. At all times during his married

|
|
|
|
i
|
|
|
&
i
f
|
|
|

life he had supplied his wife abundantly with mon ey,

and his wife had had means of her own.

he was a clergyman, attached to the Littie Zion,
A. M. E. Church, of Harlem, and had been connected
with that chureh sinece 1890. ie had known the de-

fendant during his pastorate, which commenced in 189.

i
i
!

|

l

!

i

!

)

|

i

|

1 SUI‘RREBUTTAL, J- R. V. SM1TH, being duly sworn, testified that

1

!

i

i

i

i

i

|

.i

I
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INE ROB1NSON, being duly

As fa» as he knew, the def endant s charactar for
honesty was s00d. He remanbered officiating at
the funewal of one John Harris, who had been kil lea
by his father, in April, 1891. To the best of his
re€olleet ion and beli ef, he saw the defandant at
that funewral., To the best of his recollection,
the defendant had teen in the hatit of visiting his
church from the beginning of his Pastorate, in 1890.
ln cross-examination the witness testified
that he was as Positive that he had scen the defend-~ .i
ant at t-he fune ral as he was that he had seen the
corpse. « He thought trat tie defendant was with
his mother at the timBs Harris was buried £ rom

a house in 124th street, between First avermie and

the river,

sworn, testified that she was g

married woaman, residing at 205 Fast 97th street.

She had lived there over fiwve years. She knew the

defendant. She »emenbered at tending the funeral of

one Harris, in April, 1891, and remenbered seeing
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COLES,

the defemiant thera. She was positive that she saw
the defermdant at that time; there could ke no mi st ake
about that.

In cross-examination the witness testificd
that she had not talked to any body about the testi-
mony she was to give. She had never missed the

def sendant , except when he was at his WOrk .

being duly sworn, btesti fied that she was a marri =2d
woman and lived at 223 Fast 97th street. She knew
thhe defendant. Prevaous to May, 1893, she had liv-
ed at Newton, Long island. She rememsered attending;
the funeral of one Harris in April, 18591. She re-~
membevryed seeing the defen dant at that funeral.

1n cross-examination the witness testified'

that the defendant was ac companied by his mothewr st

the funewral.

being duly sworn, testified that he was a cook, and|

resided at 216 Fast 97th street. He knew the de-

fendant, and had known him a little over four years.
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ETFAU, being duly sworn, testified that she was the mother

He remembered an occasion when ths defendant was
struck in the face ®with a eane by one John Willett.
The defendant was wearing eyveglasses at the time.
Previous to being strueck with the cape, the defe nd-
ant had no scars on his face. As far as he knew,
the defendant's character for honest},f was good.

ln cross-examination thes witness testified
that he had seen Willett about two weeks bafors the

trial. WilJett was a railroad man.

of the defendantryy and resided at 203 Fast 97th
stieet. She rem:mbared attending the funeral of
Hohn Harris, which ocecurred at 212 Fast 124th street,
in 1891. Her son was not an inmate of the New
Jersey State Prison from 183838 to 1891. Her son
was with her during that period, with the exception
of a year and tlhree months, when he was at Harper's
Ferry, Viecginia, with a misist ew.

in cr'oss.—examinat ion the witns=ss testified

that one of her brothers-in-law was living, and that

|

|
i
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he had a son named Robert wpenry. She tnought she

knew Of ficer McDonough, but sh=2 was not wery sure.

MlCHALL McDONOUGH, being recalled bp the part of THE PREOPLE, tes—

tified that he had seen the mother of the defendant
within two weeks previous to the trial, on Park
averme, ne2y 102nd street. He was on post at the
time, and a Mr. Spencer took Mrs. EFteau t o him.

Mr. Spencer, he believed, kept a grocery store in
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fhe house in which Mrs. Fteau lived. Sprencor se id,
"Are you Officer MeDonough?" iHe said, "Yes." Spen-

é
! cer said, "This is Mrs.Fteau." He, the wilness,
[

said, "Mrs. Eteau, 1 am very sorry for the trouble

that you are in and the traible tha your son has

He said, "The |-

¢
Do

given you; he nas a good education."

time that he was in jail; you know all about it

yvou mean the time that he was in Trenton?" Mrs.

Eteau said, "Yes." He said, "You knew that he was

sick there; adidn't you?" Mrs. Eteau said, "“"They
didn't tell me anything; a prisoner that camse out

told me that he was siclk in jail."
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THE PEOPLE, COURT OF GENERAL SE?SIONS, PART 1.

V8
BEFORE RECORDER SMYTH.

ROBERT H. ETEAU.

Wednesaay, November 3th, 1893.

Indietment for BURGLARY, in the THIRD DEGREE.

A Jury was empannelled and sworn.

Assistant Distriet Attorney Macdona, for The People.

Mr. Kane, for the De fendant.

MARIA THOMPSON, sworn and examined, testif ied:
Macdona: |
Hfs. Thompson, where do you live?

A. 510 Mannatian avenus.

Did you live tnere in Ociobewr last?
How long have you liwved therex?

A. From ~- the 3rd of August we moved the re.

The 3rd of August you moved there, 1893%

A. Yes, sir; it was on a Thursday.

the Couri:

Q.

What floor?% A. PFour floors up.

Mri! Macdona:

@

Q

Mr

FPront or back? A. All through, front and back.

the Court:

You mave got a flat; is that 1ii? A. Yes, sip.
Macdona:
Mrs. Thoﬁpson, do you know this de fendant?

A. 1 only know nim from baing there in the house when we
moved uthece.

Wha; is he; messenager and hall-boy¢®




A. A hall-boy and messenger, boih.

You haee had nim do various things for you, Bagve you nog,
at various times? A. Yes, sir.
Do- you remember the 10th aay of October lasi?

A. Yes-, sir.

JyOu remember what day of ithe weegk it was?

A. on Tuecsdays
Were yoOa at 510 Manhauwtan avenue that day?

A. In the aftermoon 1 arrived hdams.

You had been away how long? A. From Monaay, the

day before.

You had been away to Brooklyn, visiting? A. Yes, sir.
When you retiurned t0 your apartments dil you noiice any oF
the doors or the windows leading 10 your room had been dis-
turbed during your absence? A. Yes, sire.
Wnich was it; the window, or what?

A. When I went to unlock the door the end of the lock
shot back; we have gou iwo locks on the docr, one is a Yalsg
and the other is a statiomary lock; before I coculd get the
key in the door, the end of the lock shoit back; I unlocked
the door and went in, and found the kitichen window down

at vane top, aboux so mich (indicating).

Has you fastitened that window?

A. That waé the last window I fastened.
With a brace between the two windows? A. Yes,
Was that bursted when you looked at it?
A. Yes, sir; it was back.
Did you examine tne wardrobe or the closet in that room,
aftesr you noticed the window?

A. I knew about the robbery before 1 examinedihis window.




You did¢? A. Yes, sir.
Just tell us whe_re you went afier you saw tne window,; did
you g0 t0 the closet Or bureau drawer and sear"ch aroundthe
room? A. Yes, sir.
Tell us what you noticed?

A. 1 went to the drawer, the bureau drawer, in my bed-
room -- 1 found a seal-skin sack -was gone.
Courty |
Was i1be door opened? A. No, sir, it was unlock-
ed, but it was soute.
Did you leave it 1locked? A. I don't remember
wie ther it was lockd or not.
The bureau drawer was closed, but the seal-skin sack was
gone?® A. Yes, sir; I went into the hall-
g bed-room, where my husband's ulster was hang ing, and that
. was also gone; 1 had it hanging up 10 get the smell of cam-
;f phor out of it.
Was it youyr hiusband's coat? A, Yes, sir; an ulstea.

MR. KANE: We admit this is the property.

Court: -

Go on? A. A blanket was gone; that was alll
‘missed that day; before that, we had missed swuiis of
clothes.
EWer'e those thi:-xgs in yousr house on the Monday that you k R
;it locked? A. Yes, sir.
You locked up yoarself? A. Yes, siwr.
Macdona:
What is the value of this seal-skin wrap?

A. 1 suppose the value of that seal-skin would be

$200. and the cocat is worth $40.
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Court:

And the Slanket? A. The blanket is not of
much value, just a small blanket, worih about fifty cents.
Macdona:
When did youa next see these articles?

'A. 1 went aown to‘the pPolice station.
Wnair. police stat ion? A. To 104tn s eetv and
Third avenue, or 1l1l6th street -- 1 aoﬁ&t know which.
The POli ceman came after you, Orfficer McDonough?

A. Yes, sir.
And you went down and saw soOme Property in the statvion house?

A. Yes, sir.
This is the property, the coat and the seal-skin sack (snow-
ing property)? A. Yes, siw.

MR. MACDONA: 1 offer that coat and seal-
skin sack and blanket in evigdence.

Court:

That is your prope rty, and that was in your house?

A. Yes, sir.

: Did you ever authorize tnis man to take that property away?

A NO, sl

 ¥You certainly didn't authorize him to get it washed?

A. No, your Honos.

EXAMINATI ON.

' Kane:

You nave lived there, you say, in that house, 510 Manhatsan
avenue, for two months? A. Since the Srd of Auguast.
During that period, up to the time of the arrest of this de-

fendant, he was hal l-boy there; was ne not?%




A. Yes, sir.
And 1 believe, in answer to the District Atitorney's gques~—
tion, you sai'd that you had occasion to send. him on arsrands
for you? ’ A. Yes, sir.
Courws:
And then he was familiar with your apariments; was
A. No, sire.
He nad been in?% A. He had been to the
the hall-door.
How long had he been there before you came,; do you
anything aboutr thaw? A. 1 uom ' know,
Kane:
He was frequenitly in the nabit of going 10 your rocoms; wasnht
het A. No, ne was not; when 1 sent for him,
he came to the docor.
When you senti foxr him how a'ia you do; did you ring an el-
ectric bell or call for him?
A. I called for nim.
At the time you requested him t0 g0 on these various er-
rands f'or you, did he go into your apartment at all?
A. No, he stood in the door-way; I called him in the
fnal.l. and closed the door.
;‘Was your conversation with nim, whatever it was, in the hallp@
A. ¥es, sir; in the halli-door.
?:You siad you were a married lady? _ A. Yes, siuwr.
;Your husband is a salesman? A. Yes, sir.
lAnd. his business necessitateshim t0o be out of the city for

i

‘long periods of time?® A. Yes, sir.

‘You are alone there; are you? A. Yes, siu.
1
|
'Are you a drinking. waman? A. No, sir; I do nct dri
{
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Do you remember, on various occasions, wvalling this yoang

man into your rcom and sending nhim to the corneg of 1l<2nd

st reet and Ste Nicholas avenue for various gquantities of

liquor? ‘ A. No, 1 don't remembe:r.
You don't remenber? A A. But 1 will tell you what
I did..
Did you? ‘ A. 1 will tell you what 1 did; on
several occasions, 1 was taken very sick, which 1 am sub-
ject vo, a sitomacn trouble; being ordered by my physician,
I sent this man for brandy itwice; and, on two othesr occcas-
ions, 1 had a washerwoman, and I sent him for lager.
You never sent him Tor Golden Wedding whiskey?

A. No, never.
Do you know the janitor of tnat building? A. Yes, . sir.
Do you remembes, on fregquent occasions, senading this de fend-
ant to the janiior's apartments for lager and gorter?

A. I never sent him;oniy what I have toldd. you.
Do you visit the janiicr's apartments of thos premises fre~
quently? A. No, I don't visit frequentliy;
1 was there thr ee times in my life, on bus iness.
Did the bus iness consist of you sending thid de fendant to a
neighboring ligucr store for intoxicating liguors?

A. No,
You did not? A. No, 1 didn't; only what 1 have
told you befare.
Your nusband was noi at hane on these occasions; was he?

A. No, sir; he is traveliing.
How long had he been away Ifrom hane; about?

A. He went away on the 3rd.

Couwrt:
Your husband went away on ihe 3rd of Octobew?




A. Yes, sir, the 3rd of October.
Kane:
Is your husband at home now? A. Yes, sire.

Is he in couri to-day? A. Yes, sir.

Now, isn't it a fact, madam, that you were just a liztle

short of money at that time?
A. 1 am never snort cof money; my pocket-book is always
Tuli.
Weren't yoa short at ithat time? A. No, sir.
You say that you didai'tL authosrize this man to take these
ga rments from your apartments?
A, 1 never authorized nim at all.
Isn't iv a fact that you told nim to go out and pawn tamm?
A. No, sir; iz is not afacte.
What time did yoa leave your apartments on that day?
A. About half-past l.
Wnat time did you retarm?® A. Between 35 and 4 c¢'clock.
Three and four o'clock in the afternoon?
A. On the next days.
Court:
You were away from Monday until Tuesday€?
A The lady is here wnere 1 was staying all pignt.
Kan e:
After you had entered your rooms, and found that tne window
was open, as you have described, and that the lock had been
tampered with, and after yod had gone to ihe bureau drawer
and discovered the loss of yocur seal-skin coat and the loss
of your husband's ovesr-coat, dia you canplain to anybody?
A. Yes, sir; the officer was there.

Did you complain to anybody at the time?




A. I complained to thne officer and Mr. Barnett, in my
rarlor, at that time.
Court:
¥ understood you to say, on your airect-examination, that
you heard of the lgrceny of yocur property?

A. Yes, sir; then 1 was coming nane.
Where were you? A. On 125th street; 1 went
S0 see Mr. Barneut, the agent: of the nouse; 1 went 1o sew
if he heard anything of ithe first robbery, and, bei'ore he
could tell me, he told me of the scevnd robbhery?
There had been another robbery?

A. Yes, sir. And Mr. Barnett went home with me, along

with this lady friend of mine; and, wnen we got noaone and wen

up stairs, 1 found the things gone.

Then you went to0 the station house, ani. you saw your prop-

erty there? A. Ye g, sir.

Kane:

Didn't you state, in an swer 1o Mr. Macdona's guestion,

that the first you knew of tihis robioery was wnen j;oa came

home and you went in there and you found your windows open®
THE COURT: No, she didn't say anything

of the sort.

Kane:

You were examined before, in regard to this matter, weren't

you, on a previcus trial?® A. Yes sir.

Isn't it a fact that you stated that the First knowiedg e

that you had of any robbery in regard to the seal~-~skin

sack and that over-coat, was wie n you came home?%

A. 1 wanted to explain, but 1 was nog allowea, that 1

went on Third aw nue, to see Mr. Barnett.




Q ;?;Did YyOu not say so? A. 1 said s©, because

was not allowed t0 explain perfectlye.
Was Mr. Barnett in court on the last otrial?

A. No, he was n'os.
Is he nere to-day? A. Yes, siug.
You called at Mr. Barnett's place, in regard, you say,
some burglary that nhad been commitied be fore this?

A. Yes, 31r.
And you and Mr. Barnett and your lauy friend retuarnedto
Jour residence -- you say afie r you came from Brooklyn, yoa
went tvo Mr. Barnetys office, ani, afier italking wiwn Mr.
Barnett, you and Mr. Barnett and your lady friend went to
your apartments? A. Yes, siyp.
And thnat, at the t1ime you visited Mr. Barneti's of'iice, he
informed you that another offence had been commitied against -
you, that some oOf your properity had been t;aken?

A. Yes, sirr-.’
Mr. Barnett didn't know that property nad been zaken at the
time? A. Yes, sir;,; he knew ite.
How should ne come to know that your premi ses had been en-
tered? A. Mr. Barnett said to me,
"Have you got a seal—-skiAn coat, Mrs. Thompson?" I said,
"Yes, I nave." He said, "Haw you got an ulster?" I said,
"No, but my nusband has got an ulstes. " He says, "We have
founa your seal-skin sack and we found the ulster, and we
think we have goi the man that stole your propexrty."
Isn't it a fact, madam, that, on tne previous trial of this
case, that you testified that the first knowle dge that you
had was from the offieer.in this case, who info rmed you?

A. No; I said Mr. Barnett informe:d me.




Mr. Barnet1? Yes, sir.
You are positive of tha t? A. Positive.
After Mr. Barnestt informed You tnat the scecal-skin sack and
the udlster nad been taken =—— -o—e ..

A. He asked me if 1 had it.
And you wold him it was your prcperty?®

A. Yes, sir.
Did Mr. Barnett ever see that seal-skin sack cr ulste r be-
Tore in his 1ifw? A. No, never.
Then you went back 10 your rooms and eXanined yoar drawers,
&e, and found that certain Property was missing?

A, Yes, sir.
That was between three and four o'clock in the aiternocn;
wasn't it? A. Betweon o and 4 in the aite v
NoVne.
Afver you found your beoopertvy was missing, wanat did y ou
next do? A. 1 almest fain.ed in my parldorpe;
1 was si viing there about ten minutes.
Did you take any action, did you £0 LU Tne staitiun npnouse?

A. Yes, sir; 1 went to the 314l ion house.
Witn whom? A. With Grficer McBonough-
Wnere did you meet Gf ficer MeDonough?

A. In my rocms.
Was ne there wke n You and your Jauy friend and Me. Barnevt
é:wefe fhere? A. No; 1 was up svairs before.
gfand this gentleman cams in about Ffive minutes ai't ey.
‘%Five minuves aiter you arrived at Yyour premises, he came in9

A. Yes, sir.

i Do you know who summoned nim?

A. 1 don't know. 1 sup;.cse, Mr. Barnetu.




Barnett leave you Trum tnpe time you left nis oifice
officer came?

sir; 2 went down si& ©s TC the drag stere, 10

How long after you arrived at yoar rooms?

A. He went rign- do n wnen he ‘founa cur that 1 nad miss
ea nings; tnat my things Wwscrs goRe.
Ycu all tnree came itogeiner, yoursel £ ana znoitner lady and
Mr. Bameit came 10 yoaz Tlat? A. Yes, sir.
And afcer _y:O-.,l arrived there ,o0u Wweni J4p sSi2lrs 1o sae
other aparment? A. No, 1 diun't go

apartment; 1 went £t 0 my OwWa aparsiunents, ceriainly, and 1

staysd ithgre.

Mr. Barneitt left you and weni uown stairs?

A. Yes, sire
How long was ne gona?
A. 1 suppose abcutr 10 minuies.
Courw:
Then ine policeman cams T witn nim
house, zam ;04 Saw your
A. Yes, sire.
KXane:
Youa live. it 510 Manhnaiitan avenue?
Wnere is tne staition nouse?®
hoase is cn Thnird aw nue ana 104wa street, 1 itnink; 1 am
noi acyguzinied witn stat ion nouses.
How long did it t& © you 10 walk gown to0 ihe staiiocn house?
A.
How long would it takes walk from 510 Manna: ran avendae !

tc the station nousev? A. 1 wn': know; 1




never tried; 1 am a sSTtranger in T citye.
You went ©t0O tne station nouse and ident 1.[1 ed this clottning?
A. Yes, sir, and my lady friend was with me.
Did you see tne priscner wipn you w=2=nt down 10 the =ta ion
house? A. Not the first time.
You visited the station nouse 1t1he second time?
A. Yes, sir.

Wn.n was that? A. 1t was tne mor ning afrervard.

You saw oim then® A. Yes; 1 saw him tnen.

Did you nave any conversation with nim?
A. Nct a worde.
You are sure it was at the station house you saw him?
A, 1 only know it was a station house; 1 am not acyaaint-—
ed with staticn npouses.
Court:
You saw nim either at tne starion heuse or at e ¢Ourt-—
house? A. Yes, sir.
You wzntv pefcre a POlice Magistrate?
Kane:
You say, madam, *that, wnile you were absent Tfrocm your khome,
in Brooklyn, that this burgliary cr larceny was commitied?
A. Yes, sir.
Why did you state, in ine Pouliee Court, that you saw him
enter your aparimenis with a skelerton key?®
A. 1 never said 1 saw him enter my spartments. I saiada 1

thoughi the door had been opened wWith a key; a skeleton

Pmuast haw been used. I never said a skeletcn key. 1 signed

that paper, but 1 didn't read it.

i
-1

foreibly, and uniocked the docyr with
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a false or skeletcn key?

A. 1t might be done.
You were examined in the Police Court; weren't you?
A. Yes, sir.
You don't know how that place was entered?®
A. 1 only know from the lock going back, 1 thougat the
door'\ had been entered by a key.
Courv:
You saw tnat the window was opened and your tnings were
gone? A. Yes, sir.
Kan e:
You say that there was a Yalde loek on the docr and also an
ordinary Lock? A. Yes, sir; the Yale icuck was
all rignt.
The other lock seemed 10 bw tampercd with?
A. No; it shor back before 1 coula ger tne
fectlye.
You had a key to zthat Yale lcek?
A. 1 haa two keys ©to both LOcks.
Ycu are on the rcurth floor? A. Yes, sir.
'You Say the rear window of your i'lat was oj:enea?
A. Yes, sir.
::‘Is there a I'ire escape leading ro that rear window?
A. Yes, sir; there is an empty flat next dCowr.
;Was there a fire escape leading to that floor where that
::wind.o'.v is®? A, Yes, sir.
y;Tnis defendant is not itne janitor of that place?
A. No, sir; ne is tne assistant janitor or hali-boy.
iDo you know whe ther he has crnarge of any of the keys to th

i

rooms that are empty in that fiat?

|
)
;
i




,0OR QUALITY"
 ORIGINAL

A. I don't think ae has a right 1o have any of those
keys, and 1 doa't Know whether. he hnas any @ 1noto
Did you ever see him open, witnoutr the permission of the
jJanitouw, any of the flats in that house?
A. No.
MACDONA:
Rhis larceny that the learned counsal has been kind e nough
to bring cut here, whatit was that, what were the things stolen
at ith=s ovther larceny?®
(Objected to)
Court:
What were the things that were taken by means of tne oiher
Lareeny, the first larceny?®
A. A Pripce Albert c¢oat andvest and a pair ofpants.
Belongi ng to your nusband?
A. Yes, sir; and a coat and vest separate.
Macdona:
Is tnat the Prince Albert coat? (Coat shcwn)
A. That is the ccate.
Are these the pants and vest and that otihier coat of y our
husovandts? (Snuwing other clotning)
A. No; those are not my nusband's.
&But that coat is (Showing coat marked Pecple's Exnibit A)?
A. That coat is.
Mr. Kane: I ask Your Honor to strike ocut
all that testimony.
The Cocurt: No.

Mr. Kane: Exceptvion.

Mr. Kane: If your Honor please, dpon the




laszt nfial of this case, the de fendant aefendea
himself, and he is nct satisfied wiith the erocss—
examinat ion of Mrs. Tnompson, the conpld ning wit -
ness in thiscase, and he desires 10 conduct his
own case. That being the fact, 1 desire to ask Lo
withdraw.

Cuurt: Does he wisn tcoc defe nuant
nimsel £2

Kane: Yes, sir.

Couruv: 1 do nort wisn you 1o witharaw

Kane: He desires t1o recall Mrs.
Thomps one.

Court: Youu remain ner.e.

MICHAEL McDONOUGH, sworn and eXamined, testified:
By Mr. Macdona:
Q You are artached tc the <5th precinetr; are ycu?®
A. Yes, sire.
How is that precinet bounded; tellus where it is?
Bcunded ¢n the Scuth by 9&thn Street, on ihe North by ligsin
 streez, and on the West by Pifin and Lenox avenue, and on
the East by the Fast River.
SNo. 510 Mznhattan avenue is not in yoar rrecinst?
5the otner side of Central Park, west?

A. No, sir; it is in the 40th Frecinete.

'
f :
«
i
)

‘What tour of duty did you naw on the nignt of zihe

3

October? A. From 12 to ¢ A. M.

What beat? A. 9oth street 1o 1O0&uh sStreet,

on Fourth ave nue.
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Pid you,:wnile on ihai beal at any time daring ithe hours

YOu have named, see this defe nuant?
A, 1 did, sirc; at ten minuates to l.
Court:
What night? A. The morning o1 Ocitober 10.
Macdona:
Whe:re did you see him?

A. Park avenue, bestween 97th aznd 98th streets.
1s there a bridge at 97th or 9sth st reet, golng over Fourthn
aven.ie? A. There is a pridge on both stresis
How far f'rom the bridge at 9uth street did you see this de-~
fendant; now many feet away i'rom the entrance to ine bridge
was it? A, Aboutr 150 feet from thie 9%8ch
streeti bridge.

Was ne on the side-walk or in the roadway when you Saw I im?

A. He was oveys against ine railrcad wall, walking alon g-
side of ite.

One hundred and 1ifiy feer from tne bridge?

A. Yes, sir.

:-And how high 1is that wall, orficer?

A. The wall runs different highits; at Ydéth street it
;:‘_becomes incvo a tuannel. Bewween the railing and the siune
;'waJ.AL, it is aboutr foar feet high.

j,Did this de fendant have anytning witn nim, any bundle?
i ’

A, He had a bundle in nis possession.

You accosted him,; did you? A. 1 did, sir.
;Tell 48 exXacitly what you s=zia and what ne said?

' Ae. While standing on Fourth avenue, beiween 97tn and 98th

streets, 1 seen the boy coming up; wendering whartr it was,

1 crossed over. I says, "What have you g0t there?" I drew




Q

" nice

. lamp 10 see what is ig."

:you want. " I s4d q,

baton out of my pocket. He said, "I nhave g0t thne wash

Oof a poor family, going 1o Cnicago. 1 am fetehing it nane

10 my moiner, 10 get it rezdy for ithem. " I said, "It is g
itime of nigni vo feten washn nome; come over L0 whe

He s=zid, "I know my rignts." I

said, %So do 1 mine; you oOpen that bundl e, a- I will take

you up to the house." He said, "You eome: to my housge, if
"No, eorer to my house." I arrested him,

and Officer Stllivan came up 97th street; I asked him, "Do

cyou know this fellow?" He said, "No.*" I said, "He tells me

he has got wash in the bundle." Whiie walking down tnr ougi
FPourth avenue, 1 saw OfFficer Shaw at LLexingion avenue, and
spoke to him. He said to the de fenda t, "Why don't you open

it for the officesr?" He said, "I opened it for two other

| officers, who seen it was wash, and I am noi going to open
it ' Officer Shaw said, "You had better open it fa him;

. You wili have to open it fa wve ry officer.®" 1 fetched him
: in the staticn houase, and the Sergell Togsked nim als aze.

"He seaid ne diup (v kuow. "Wieres do sou woroke"  He said, "1

v

~don't work pow. The Sergeant said, "What is in that bun-

‘dle?" He said, "Look @t it yourself." We locked him up. I

.said to tne Sergeant, "I wonder wnat is in ite® I opened

::thle bundle am found this seal-skin coat and that ulster

wrapped in that blanket, with 1wo sheets Oof manilla wrapping

pqper one on top and one unaderneath.

Af‘ccer you had opened the bundles =and examined the bpapers,

"dld you find any marks?®
A. On the botiom of the sheet of wrapping Paper whiehn

;Was underneath the seal-skin sack was written, "William A.
i

Thompson, 510 Manhattan avenue, 4th floor."v

|
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Didyou search tinis prisoner?
A. I did, sir.
What else diad ybu find on him besides this bundle?
A. I found that pocket-book, with four pawn-tickets in
ite
Have you got those tickeis therre A. Yes, sir.
I show you pavwn-iicket:No. 74, 553, B. Goldstein, Z,108
Third awe naie. Phat is one of i1le pawn-tickets you found
there?
(Objeeted to) (Objeetion overruled) (Exception)
A. Yes, sir; a coat and veste.
Did you go to Goldstein's £o lcok up the artie les ealled
for 5y that ticket?
(Objected to) (Objeection overraled) (Exeeption)
A: 1 did,sir; and brought them here to eourt.
- I hand you a coat?.
A. Yes, sir ; that is one of them.
People's Exhibit 1 for identiification, and a vest?
A. Yes, siryp thisis one of them.
That is one of the things you found represemted by this
; tieket 74,553
' (Objeerved to) (Objeetion overruled) (Exception)
A. Yes, sir.
?Tou arrested this man on what day, the 10th?
‘ A. Oetober 10th.

Mr. Magdona: 1 oifer this pawn-ticket
in evidenee, 74,553, dated Oetober 4, People's
Exhibit 2.

The Court: That last propexwrty is not a

portion of the stolen properity,bat 1 will overrule




your objection and give you an exception.

Did you look for goods on the: pawn-tieket 70,110, September

4th, ealling for a pin?
A, Yes, sir, a pin -- a badge, I call iz.
You went to0 tie pawvn-shop and got the badge called Tor on
that ticket? - A. Yes, sir.
Here 1s ticket 70, 298, by the same pawn-broker, faor a
of clothes? A. Yes, sir.
Did you find that sulii of clotnes?
A. Yes, sir; that is here in eourt.
Also, this Mountit Morris Loan Office, 31, 348%
A. Yes, sir, ecalling for a suwit of eclotnes; dhat is
court, too, wrapped up in that paekage.
This package you broaght into ecurt sinee recéss?
A. Yes, sir; the pawn-brokesr brougnt it nece.
These are the c¢lothes represented by this last icket?
A. A Prinee Albert e¢0Oat and vest and pants.
Mvr. Macdona: 1 offer these goods, and
will eonneset this defendant with = clothes.
Mr. Kane: 1 objeect.
The Court: Objectién overruledo.
(Exception)
Macdona:
Did you, afrer your arresﬁ of the defenaant, nave any con-
%:versation with him about these articles represented by
ticket 74,533%
A, No, sir, I didn't ask him nothing at that time about
: tnem-.
Have you since? A. No; but 1 found out since,

though.
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You have not spoken to him about iz? A. No.
Have you found out anything about thisMount Morris Loan
Off ice? A. Mes, sir; Mrs. Thompson claims
the suit of clothes belong to her hasband, still there; I
asked her,andshe told ne
They have been identified in your presence?

A. Yes, sir.
You examined this man, and you found all these pawn-tickets
on him, in ithe stavion nouse; and you took him to court,
the next day, did you? A7 Yes, sir.
And had him remanded? A. Had him remanded until
I could Find ocut
You found this address on a paper. Did you go to 510 Man-
hattanavenue, in this city?

A, 1 did, sir; 1 went in tlhe morning;,, first.

You diaa "t find Mrs. Thompson? A. Mrs. Thompson

' was not at home; I met Mr. Barnett, and the. jamitor.

"You returned later in the afiwe rnoon?

A. T told "r. Barnett I would be back.
You had some conversation with him about that bus inegs®
A. Yes, sir.
Then you went back in the afternoon and you foundMrs.
Thompson? A. Yes, sir.
Did you bring her down to the station nouse?

A. I did, sir.

" Dia you exhibit. to her this over-ccatit and this sack and

| this blanket? A. Yes, sir.

. These are the articles that you found in the bindle that

i
i
Iz

. you opened in the station house; is that right?

A. Yes, sir.




Did she identify those articles as her property?

A. Yeos, sire.

CROSS EXAMINATION.

By the Defendan v:

Q Officer McDonough, in stating that you arrested me a little
atfter 1 o'eloeck, on Tuesday, Octobexr 10th, you statedthat
you found me skulking along a wall about one nundred and
fifiy feet from the bridge that I had just c¢ome ofi;, did
you not%? A. 1 did.

.Hav-e you taken any measuremen s, S0 as 10 have tha. dis-
tance as accurate as youa have given it?
A. I did.
You took a measurement, Yyou have it positively, you marked
 the place where you found me andwent back?
A. There was no necessity to mark it; there was a big
pile of roeck -- I didn't make the pile of rock; they were
dumped there.
Did you measure the pile of rocks? A. 1 dig.
On which s ide of the bridge were you standing when you saw
me on the bridge? A. v Was on the east side,
égwallting between borh bridges.
Who were youa in conversation with wken you were stunaing
‘.;t,hex-ee? A. In conversation with a young
gggentleman and some lady.
Are you positive who the lady was?
On which side were you walking then?
A. On the west side.
You say you saw me get off on the east side?

A. 0, 1 dida't say nothing of the kind; I met you on the




east siae.

You were on the west side wnen you saw me get off the walk?

A. No, IAwas on the east side, standing on tHe side-walk.
About halfway between 97th and 98th strests? .

A. No; 1 was only about thirty-five feet from the cormer
of 97th, standing in the shadow of the building.

Will you ell me how many lisnts there are between 97th
sureet corner and the bridge?

A. DO you mean gas lamps on the street? From ithe north
side of 97th street up to where 1 fcund you there are no
gas-lights on Fourth avenue.

There are none within three bloecks; are there?

A. Oh, yes, there is one, sevenry feet further than that,

on the south side of 97th st reet and Park awenue.

E:I am talking about up-icwn€?

A. 10lst street is the last lamp.

.That is three blocks away, as 1 said?

A. Yes, sir.

nghen, naturally, if there are no lignis there, it isn't at
all surprisipg that I was in the dark; is it?

A. Mot at all surprising that you were in the dark.

::Ir there was no light there at half-past 1%
A. You coulldn't have been in tke 1light.

The moon was not shining. Officer, will you please tell me

ﬁon which side the side-walk walk is on that St reet?

A. It is op both sides, east and west.
‘How about the avenue? A. 1t is on the east and west
side of the avenue.
That side-~walk is not on the same side the bridge is on%

A. No, you have got t0 cross over.




If I just came qff that bridge, naturally I would have been
on the'side of the wall that is in the dark; wouldn't I%
A. Yes, gir.
Temm me who it was that told you that my frien@,'Max Good -
erson, the soniof the ex—Chief ¢f the Fire Departiment, had
- been accused of stealing ihese things®?
A. I don’t know who told me; s omebody.
Did they tell you that anybody else had been accused, too?

A. No.

Another young fellow that used to be around with me in the

 hall? A. No.

~ You are positive of this? - A. Positive.

- You never told me so? A. Yo, 1 never told y ou SO.
~ I want you to tell me, officer, if I refused to tell you
I where 1 livea@? A. You said you lived in

j‘207 East 97th street, first, and then ydu reffused o tell

" aft erwards.

;Didn't I say 203¢ A. No, you said 207.

%How was 1iv, if I refused to vell you, as you stated on tne
iprevious trial, where I lived, I alsc was willing for you
:to ¢ome home with me in the next bloeck and open this bundle?

(Objected to) (Objection susﬁained)

'Will you tell me if it was not. at my request that I was

;taken t O the stat ion house?® A. Certainly, it was
%compulsary upon you to go there:; you asked me to tak you
ithepe, because I wouldn't let you go.

‘I told you at the time, sc you state, that I had the wash
for a poor family going to Chicago; is that what I said?

A. That is what you told me.

¥ou are positive of this? A. Yes, I am positive.
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Didn't it seem strange to you at the time that a poor Ffamily
was going to Cbicago?

(Objec ted to) . (Objectionsustained)
Officer, didn't I tell you some thing with reference to my
what do you mean?®

case? A.

Couwt

? Didhe tell you anything about this case?

A. Nov as I know of; he wouldn't tell me where he gow the

stuff.

‘Defendant:

Didn't 1 tell you that 1 was acting under the instructionsg~-
that Mrs. Thompson gave me those things to pawn¢?

A. You said nothing of the kind; jyou said, "WVhatever was

'~ given to me in confidence, would I misplace that confidence?"

: That is as far as you got.

;jThen it seems that I told you sonme thing. I told you that

what was givento me in confidence, I wouldn't give away; I
b4

told you that?%

A. You said, if the:re was anything given to you in con-

fidence, would you misplace that confidence??

" Those are my exact words? A. I believe they areg

I told you that what was given me in confidence, 1 wouldn't

itell you? A. iou asked me thate.

' Now, officer, are gpou positive that YyOu are not mistaken

'in the wording of that assertion of mine?

The Court: You needn't answer. He has
already answered the guestion twice.

Do you renme nbe what’you sald to me that caused me to make

that assertion?® A. No, I don't.

Tell me, officer, if you ever came to me after my arrest and
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10 get any factis relative 10 this case from me?

phat is my business.
Q RI didn't ask you what your busire ss was; 1 msked you what

you done? A. Yes, sir.

My answers were always what?
A. That you wouldn't give anything away to me.
Can you remember at what Places and what time ycu came to

me? A. On the way to the court 1 asked

you once.
Court:
Where was the next place?
A. In the cells; back of the station nouse.
Defendant:
i:Anywhere else? A. Not as 1 know of.
‘1Not here in the court-rcom? A. No.
Don't you remenbesr the time 1 was indicted, back there?
A. 1 didn't go back there for any burpose like that at
E.all.
‘But you did, while you were there? A. No, I didn'zt.
;:You nevesr gpoke tc me?
A. I spoke to you, but noi on any business.
. What business did you have there then?

ﬁ. The Court: You needn't answer that.

Ihe Defendant:
Q ngell me how, when I refused to tell Yyou my name, you found

A. I found it out by that piece

Oof paper wrapped in the bundle.

My name? A. N, not your name; I found your nam

from Mr. Smith.

He is what? janitor cof them flats,




510 Manhattan avenue.
? You ars sure it was not ifromMr. Barnett?
A. Nc, not from Mr. Barnett.
Mr. Barneitt didh 't say énything about my name%
A. Mr. Barnett called you "William.?"
‘Where didyou meet Mr. Barnett? A. Ar the fla-t.
By appointment? A. No, sir.
Court:
You went to the flat, didn'it you, when you saw the address
on that piece of paper? A. Yes, sir.
De fendant:
Is that piece of paper here? A. Nok sir.
Where isit? A, That I couldn't say; it
might bein the furnace.
Téil me your direct conversation with Mr. Rarnett?

A. Oh, we talked about several things; we went all
through the flat, lcoking to see who was rcocbbed and what
they lost. I told him I found pawn-tickets in y cour possess-
ion; that was the principal conversation; 1 found out what
was stolen; I went through every flat, inguiring.
¥ou and Mr. Barnett, together? A. Yes, sir.
How many vacant flats did you find?

A. One up on the fourth floor, corner of 121st street,

I believe; that corner building of Manhattan av enue.

;Did you find that flat locked? A. No, sir, it was
ibpen; it was vacant and unlocked.

éﬁas there anything in that f£lat9

A. Yes, sir, there was some of your old wearing apparel
g%hat nad no business to be in the ilat.

Anything else? A. There was an olg t runk,

]
|




there might have been iwo in that room where your clothes
was; there wasn't three; there was nothing in them.
Those vrunks had sare thing in them?

A. There was nothing in them.
>Did you inquire who owned those trinks?

A. Mrs. Smith told me who “owned them.
You went through allthese flats before yoa had seenMrs.
Thompson? A, Yes, sir; before I had seen Mrs.
Thompsone.
Until:the time you had gone through all these flats you
didth 't know wke ther there was anything stolen oxr not, or

whom it belonged to%® A. How do you mean?

I mean, until the time that you went thnrough those flats

with Mr. Barnett, inquiring wno had lost goods and who
hadn't, you didn't know whether anything was stolen or not?
A. Onh, yes, I did.
The Court: It is his business to find
thieves.
Defendant:
What reason did you have to go through tne flats, if you
knew those things were stolen?®
A. Knew what things were stolen?
If you knew that these things wefr stolen from Mrs. Thomp-
son, why didn't you go and see Mrs. Thompson?
A. I couldn't see her; she was ouuie.
Court:
You went to the addressg
A. Yes, sir,; and inquired foxr her.
Defendant:

Did Mr. Barnets tell you that sk hal gone?




A. She hadn't come back at that time.
What time were you there?
A. 1 was there in tke morning, and 1 was there in the

aft emoon.
Court:
Yougoir there about 4 o'clock in the aftesmoon?
A. Between 3 and 4.
Defendant:
- You say that Mr. Barnett told Y ou that Mrs. Thompson was
not home? A. Mrs. Smith told me thazt.
Mr. Barnett said he didn't know nothing about Mrs. Thomps on
be ing home? A. That is it.
Whereabcocuts did y ouw mest Mi's Barnetz?

A. 1 believe it was 1n zThe Grug S TCra.
You were in the drug store when le came ing

A. 1 was.
) How long had you been there, in the drug szore?

A. 1 didn't stay there over iwo Or three minutes; he was
T in Previous to me getiiing there.
-fHow leng did you remain at that i lat?

A. About an hour and a half.
:fwno was i1t told you that I had been in the nabit of carry-
ing whiskey to Mrs. Thom,son's room?
EfCourt:

ngid anybody? ; / t0ld me amything

llke thate.

JfDefendant:
;:Wh;y did you tell me, in your conversation, that you had
found out I had been in the habit of carrying Golden Wedding

whiskey te her room? A. I said nothing of the
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kinde.

Tell mewho was 1in the statvion house at the time you 100k me
there? A. Sergeant O'Keefe.

-

Anybody else® A. The door-man, yourself and Il.

Court:

I suppose there were some prisoners decwn in the cell?®

A. 1 was not in the station house -- 1 vas in the pack

part of tne stvation house, altogether in a separate building
Defendan t:
You stated that 1 refused to gell yoa or the serge ant any-

thing relative t0 my name o address?

(Objected to, as already answered.)
Cour t:
: Answer that question. Did he refuse 10 tell the sergeant?
A. The sergeant asked him his name, and he refused t0

tell him, and he refused to tell him wnhnere he lived.

:1 Defendm t: |

EvHow then could you testify, at the previous trial, that I

I told the sergeant that 1 had remnoved fum iiure from the

" room? A. I didn't tell the sergeant that
;iat. all; you stated that 10 ithe jury, yourself.

gtDidn't you tell it to the jury, wnen y ol were c¢ross-examin-
{;ed; didn't you aumit 1it? . A. 1 aid not.

I think you daid? A. I think 1 di#i not.
:gTell me at whose suggestion it was, t0 mal me confess and
;%give testimony against myself, I was subjected 10 certain
iindignities in the 104th swreet jail?

The Court: You neednlt answer that ques-

tione. You may ask if you were subjeected to any in-

dignities, first. He hasn't said you wers.




e Defenuani:
Was 1% A. PTnat I don't Kncwe.
Court:
Did you subjeet aim ¢ any indignities?

Defendant:

Do you remember telling me, when 1 refused, as yoa say, TO

say anyining =z=bout inis ihat you could make me talilk-—-—-
do you remember, officer, teliing me, wanen I refused, as 04
assert, ©To zive any iestimony ccneerning tais case, tnat

it would @» rpossible 1o make me talk, if 1 were down siairs

and the hose turned on me?

Did you dc itha1if?
Defenaanuv:
Or words 10 that effect?

A. Yo, nor words 10 tha - aidn®t spezk nothing
aboul giving you ithe nose.
Do you remember, while 1 was siiting, the morning inat I
wasdown there TOor examination at the Harlem Police Court,
nolding my rignit nznd, while a2 brotner officer neld me,
whilst tne taicd aiz me on ine nead witn a siick, in ine
pelice station? A. No, sir.
You don't remember itaaxz A. No, sir.
I was sititing tner=s? A. You were sitiing on
cnair; I was waiching s OCu.
You had nold of my rignt harmm?

A. I nadn't nold of you at that time, wnile you wers
sitzinge.
And yet it is possible, wnile I was sitting there, ithat

somebody from e nind mignt nave nit me on the nead?
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The Court: Nox that won't do -- the
ceiling might have fallen down on you, anything.
Defendant:
Were yoa in court and leard Mrs. Thompson's testimony?
A. I did; I was there.
Did you hear Mrs. Thompson when she testifiegl?

A. 1 aid.

Did you hear Mrs. Thompson testify tha sne remained in

her rocms while Mr. Barnett went down siairs?

A. I don't know whsast Mrs. Thompson or Mr. Barnett doen
while 1 was not there.
I asked you if you neard Mrs. Thnompson testify that she re-
mained in ner room while Mr. Barnett went down stairs%

Ae I believe 1 did hear hescr say thate.
Is that a fact? A. I don't know whether he

was in her rooms Or not, but 1 met nim downstairse.

On our last trial, you stated thiat you went to Mrs. Thomp

son's between 3 and 4 o'clock, and found Mrs. Thompson ab-

sente. Now, is it true, as Mrs. Thompson s tated, that she

" remained in her flat while Mr. Barnett came down stairs?

A. I told you at the l1ast itrial, when 1 went to Mrse.

Thempson's fliat, Ifound her absent, between 3 and 4 o'eclock,

and me and Mr. Barnett walked on the side-walk. 1 asked

"hew 1f she lost any stuff, and said, "Come over to the l1l4th

st reet stvation house, and see 1f they are yours.?"®

i

MACDONA:

' You say that you examined tne empiy flat on the corner

house? ' A. Yés, sir.
It adjoins the corner, this vacant flat thait you examined?

A. Yes, sir.




Was thepe any access from that vacant fiat 10 the window
of the room, of Mrs. Thompson's apartments?
(Objected to) (Objection overraled)
A, There is a fire escape shaped in the ell fashion,
which goes from thnis empty flat up to Mrs. Thompson's

kitechen window.

WILLIAM A. THOMPSON, sworn and examined, testified:
. Macdona:
I show you a coat, pants and vest represented by ticket
51, 348 on tihe Mount Morris Loan Office, and ask you if
these clothes are yours?
(Objec ted to) (Objection overruled) (Excepiion)
A. Those are mine; 1 reported 10 the 30th precinct sta-
tion house when I discovered the loss.
When were Phey lost? A. I discovered the loss
about the latter part of August.
"Did you speak 1o tne janitor and all the rest of the people.?
A. No, I didn'<.
"You went 1o the police? A. I 1o0ld the police of-
ficer on tne beat.

1 You afterwards discovered them in tie station house, in the

ffnands off Officer McDonough?

A. I saw them at court the first time.
%Tnat was the first time you saw them? A. Yes, sir.
ngere is a coat and vest represented by ticket 74,555; did
you ever se& that coat and vesi?
A. Yes, sir; those are mine.
When did you miss those? A. It is an old coat

and vest;, I missed it aboutr the same time.
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EXAMINATI1ON.

Kéne:

You missed those coats; did yocu?

You were living in that flat how long?
A, Since last Auguste.

Who had access to your apartments?
A. My wife and myse 1.

Anybody else? A. Not that 1 know of;, I suspect—

ed somebody else. v

There is a private hallway that leads to your rooms in than

flat; is there not? A, We have a private hal lway ;

yes, sir.
Your wife has testifi ed to-day that whenever she nad a con-~
versation with this defendant she held it in the p&dvate
hall way; where did you keep your clothes?

A, I kept my elothes in that closet.
They couldn't be reached by the private nallway withoutg

entering the other doousr? A, Not very well.

. And your wife toldus tha. this def' @1 dant had 't come into

the apartinents at all; he coualdn't nave reached those clothes;

could he?

The Court: Don't answer. He has al ready

answered the guest ion.

Mr{fKane:

Q

¢

i
i
|
)
{
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After you missed those clothes, did yaou Z£0 10 the police?
A. No, sir, beecause 1 suspected

Did you complain to the janitor?
A. No,vnot right away.

How long after you missed them? A. It might have been

a couple of weeks; my wife suggested my going there.
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You had some conversation with the janitoyr, 1 presame,
about this matter? A, Yo, I hadn't.
Who had, your wife? A. Yes, sir, my wife.
You are testifying from infeormation received from yoar
wife? A. No, 1 am testifying from in forma-
tion that I_know.
What did you do afierwards with respect to these c¢lothes,
there is a seal~skin sack and an ulstes?
A. I was away at ithe time tne robbery 100k place.
¥ou returned after some time?
A, I was home the following Sunday.
Only for one day? A. My business called me
away again.
I presume your wife intformedyou of the loss of the clothes?
A. I was iﬁformed of thne loss wihen I was on the road,
througha letter from mywife.
After you returned, what steps did you take:?
A. The city had charge of the case,'as I anderstand it.
You are aceustomed to be away for some time, a period of
time, upon the road? A, About seven months in
the year; that is all.
Courtws:
On bus ime:ss? A. Yes, your Honor, on bus iness.
i Kane:
féYou are away at what periods of time, varying now long?
A, Two or three or fcur weeks.
You don't knowwhat happens at home while you are away?
(No answer)
Macdona:

While you are away during tne seven months, you provide




; your wife with money?
The Court: Don't answer.
Mr. T‘acdona: I know wnat the defence
That is the case for the People.
mhe Court: What ward is that in?
Mr. “Macdona: The twelfth. Do yocu admitg

the ward?

Mr. Kane: Yes.

THE CA3E FOR THE DERENCE.
ROBERT H. ETEAU, THE DEFENDANT, sworn ane examined, tes-
tified:

By Mr. Kane:

Q ;,Wnere do you live®

A. I live at 203 East 97th Street, with my mother and two
fzbrothers; my father is dead.
Q@ ' How long have you lived in this city?
A. I have lived in thisecity all my life, except tne time
II was away in ithe South, at college. I was born at Roslyn,
éLong Island, this State.

‘What has beenyour ocaipation For the iast few sears?
i
!

ﬁ A. For the last few ,ears -- 1 have been iwo and a half
;years of my life a valet to a gennleman now dead.

%Qou were enployed at 510 Manhatian avenue?

A. 1 was employed at 510 Manhattan avenue.

éAnd how long were you employed there?

ﬁ A, Thirteen months.

There.are a number of tenants in those premises?

A. There are, when the flats are full, wenty-nine ten-
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ants; all are full except one.
Do you remember the 9th and 10 th of October, this year?

A. Yes, sir.

You know Mrs. Thompson, of course? 1 have known
her since she moved in the flats, yes.

She moved in Auguast? A. Yes, sir, in August.

Do you know hesr husband, the galtlemén who was just on the
stand? A. I know him to be an estimable

gentleman.

Since jhe time Mrs. Thompson moved in that flat, she re-
quired your services on different oc@asionsf

A. On different occasions.

She nas testifi ed here that, on those different occasions,
you never entesed hee flat, that youa simply remained in the
private hallway while shr conversed with yoa; 1is that so?

A. Vot altogetnher so, nO.

Do, you know the pabits of Mrs. Thompson?

A. 1 can say that 1 do know them -- 1 know them, mo: e or
less, when she calls me to her rooms; 1 Ffind them ocute
Do you remember this night, whe n you were arrested, with
this bundleunder yourarm?

A. 1 remembesr it perfectly weil.

How long before that hadyou seen Mrs. Thomps on?

A, 1 seen Mrs. Thompson that day first, about nalf-past
© in the morning, and then three or four times until about
half-past 12, the last time that 1 seen hex that daye
She couldn't have been in Brooklyn; could sne?

A. Yes, 1 think she might nave been in Brooklyne.

the day before; when did you see her?

A. The day before she was home all the daye.




- ORIGINAL

She was at nome all the day¥?

A. All the day before.
Then you saw her at © and 12 o'clock; do 1 understand you
correctly? A. No; any time aftey nalf-past 8
or 9 until 1=2.
State 10 this jury just exactly what conversation you haf
with Mrs. Thompson, on the day
Court:
Did dmne give you that bundleof clothing the oftficer found
; with you?%? A. Yes, sir; she gave me that
bundl e.
Kane:
Tell the jury all about it?
A. On the day in juestion, October 9th, 1 went, as
usual, to my work about half-past 7. My duties make it
necessary for me t0 remain there twelve hours, leaving about
the same time at night that 1 go in the morning. About
half-past @ o'cloek, according to my usual mode of doing
bus iness, I was sweeping the lower hall of 510 hManhattan
av enue. After 1 swept the corner house, she came down
stairs to get a le tier from the box; sne spoke to me,
"Good morning, Robert;" "Good morning, *‘rs. Thompson." She
went up stairs again. About half-past 10 she put her nead
our of ithe kitcnen window, and called through tne fire-—
escape, "Robert," four or five times. The janitress heard
ner; 1 didn't answer directly, immediately. When 1 went
back to the janitor's rooms, t0o get my brushesa, wnerethe
jJanitor always kept them, I didn't have no place to keep ’
them -~ the janitor told me 10 go and see wnat Mrs. Thomps an

wanted, she had called me four or Ffive times; I went to




Mrs. Thompson's room; sine called me inside, as she done a

numbesr of times before, she called me into newr parlor acrossg .
the private nall. She says, "Robert, 1 am going away to-
day, and 1 want you to take my dog, wniech I am going vo

leave with the Janitor, out in the streeti wwo Oor tnree

times, so that. it won't make na muss in the janitor's
aparttments. At that time she tcld me that she wanted me
0 tale a bundle there that she nad alreadydone up, and
while she was away to dispose of it for her.
Court:
Dispose of it in whav way?

A. Pawn it; she told me Lo get, realise, ifpossible,
$75. I took the bundle down stairs and placed it into
empty cellar, wnére, as nobody nadused it, I was in the

i habit of hanging my goocd clothes. When 1 wenz there, I
always took off my celothes and Put on my working c¢lothnes.
‘That night, when I left, knowing that the janitor always
closes those flats at 10 ©'cloek and it would be impossible
"for me to get in there latesr thhan that, and having an en-
}_gagement to call on a friendof mine in 146ch-street, I tououk
:the bundle, and called on this lady.
55What lady?
‘ A. Miss Hattie Ciark, 267 West 1l46th street. 1 remaineaq
 until half-past 10. 1 walkedag leisurely down ang left nher
fihouse, walking leisurely down Eightn awnue, looking in the
Egnumerous 8t Oore windows. In point offaet, I stopped in
gEighth avenue and had my supper. I walkeddown Eighthn
gavenue to 121 8t street and so one down to St. Nicholas
iavenue, to 1l4th street, through ll4tn snreei, down Fifth

4]
H

! ) .
havenue to 109th street; tihen 1 came across on Park avenue,

|
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I do live, and I ciag nim at the time thaz if = wanied
Ther2 ' could nave found Cut waar was in the bundle, I
could =ave cpened it at ianat time and place. He says, "No,
I %il: take $¥C4 TC tne station house.® I was tzken to tne
stai1ion nouse. Thne sergean:i asked ™ wna myname was; he
asked me whne re

1 livea and numerous otnes questions,

among
which &sked me ™ Gipen the bundl=. I T0ld nim the of-
fice ~ arrcsted me, and the banal e wzg

¥as 1ln the oirficer's

and the officer coula Open ig. He says, "No, you
I S, "Tne ocfficer isnere; ne can ot en
Hswas nce sutisiied witn tnat. He i1c¢ok me

I was locked in ry celli ithere from the

na

1f-past 1 on Tuesday,

“ntil 1 was taken to court tnat

Tne officer didn's know my name. He

remanded, if I remember rignt

> “NQEr 1n€ name cf

Cfiicer nad ,ou memanaed, did ne state to

22T ne nad ine compla inanz¥?

<@ noz.

Star e waati tne name of ine complainant was?

aian’'z state noining.

Said my name w¥as Jonn Dce, anc 1 was réemanded under
of Joan Dce, in tne custoay of wne cificer, 1 was
TG 10£th s:ireet Jail, and placed in my cell, ana
taere until I was iaken t0 coirt thne nexu day,
Wednesday. During thaz time--maybe it is tne rules, 1 don't
know~-I nzg cne mezl.:. On Tuesday morning, tne 10th, the
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morming that 1 was arrested, before he tcok me to c oart,

I sat waiting in a room with himself and a numbesr of cther
officers. While sitiing there -— as yoa see, gentlemen,

my eyes are weak--1 attempted to remove my handkerchief and
wipe my eyes; it is a habit, and it is necessary. He ob-

jected to me placing my hands in my pockets, and I request-

mind a:bout. tha t?

While siviing tnere, For fear that 1 woukh Put my nand

pPockev again, he took hold of my bight hand, and an-
other officer sat on the oither side am took my leftr hand,
and the third offl ecer went suddenly benind me and nit me
across the head with his e¢luabe. It hurt me considerable. 1
turned t0 him, bscause 1 didn't wish him to know that he
jad hurt me, and 1 asked him didn't he think he had hurt
his stieck more than he did my head. I was taken to court.
I 10ld them 1 hadno thing to say whnatever at presente. My
reason for doing this

(Objecied o)
Tell us what hajppened?
A, 1 was remanded again. And while in my cell anothnesr

gentlueman came to0 me and he asked me conce ming my case.
I told them I didn't haw notihingwhatever to say, and lay
daown on my bunk. I was lying there about half an hour, aznd
he came back again. Ididn't gew ap off ‘ohe'seat. 1 asked
him if those fellows couldn't leave me al one andg let me
sleep. He said, "Look here,Y nave something for you." He
turned ihe hose on me, and wet me caonsiderable.
Court:

Who was the gentleman who said that?®
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A. 1 don't know the name; 1 am not familiar with the

names .

Kane:

Was he in uniform?
{No answer)

Court:

Go on?

A. I was taken to court Wednesday; the complainant was
there and swoureout hesr affidavit, and I was giestioned and
gave my name, address, residence, birth and age ank waived
examination and was broaght to the Tombs. That canprises
the case.

Kane:

There have been different exhibits offered here in evide nce ,
and they_say that when yoa were searchedin the station

house various pawn-tickeis were founa dpon you; how about
those? A. 1T had a rocket-buouk, and in twnat
pOcket~book there was a bPhotograph of a cousin of mine and

the pawn-tickets; tnat is all.

Court:

‘ Where did you get those clotnes; that is what we want to

getr at?® A. Those clothes were &iven to me--

at least two parcels of ithose clothes was given to me by the

lady.

‘:Kane:,

ngy Mrs. Thomps on? A. By Mrs. Thompson.

2 Cour t:

| For what purpose? A. To pawn for her, at dif-

| ferent times.

|

Didn't you give her the rawn-tickets?
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A. 1 did give her tie first ticket, when 1 pawned the
first goods, a coat and vest; she gav e the tickets to me
with the intention of getting out the things before the
15th of the month. 1 have done it 1 imes before, pawned her
things.
What did that tickeit represent?
A. A Prince Albert coat and vest and a rair of pants ~-
tney are hnere c-day.
The second time you went to tne rawn-shop whatdid you pawn
for her? A. A coat and vest.
Did you retain the ticket?
A, At her instruetion, 1 retained the tickets.
What did you do with the money Inam you got for rPawning
them? A. I gave tte money to nexr, ana
she told me to keep the tickeis.
Kane;

; When was the first time that you pawned any article for
Mrs. Thompson¢? A. 1t was in the first part
of September; ctne g:ods were given t o me on Sa urday, the
<nd, and it was icc laie ther Torm ©o pPawn it, when it

was given tc me. Sunday 1 diun't pawn iz, and Monday I

didn't have time; I think it was ravned Tuesday, Septembeu

S5th. |
Now, Mrs. Thompson stat es here, under cath, that she is a
lady of sober habits, and that sk never allowed you to ens
ter her flat except so far as to nave a conversation with
you in the private hallway ; is that a fact?

A. It is not.

Were you ever in her flat?

A, T was often in her flat.
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Did you have access to ner bureaas, ,.&c?

A. 1 had no access t0 her bureause.

Did you ever go into her apartmer ts when she was not there?

A. Never.

She states that she locked her door by means of a Yale lock
on the outside, and another lock; is that so?

A. All the doors of those flats are loeked in tnat wa y.
Is there any means by which you could obtain entrance 10
her apartments by means of tne f'ire-escape?

A. Theirre is means by which I could naveobta inedent rance
through a vacant flat, into her apartments, througin the
kitehen window.

Who had the keys of that apartment?
A. The janitor.
Did you ever nave sa key to any flat?

A. No one had keys exceptishen the tenants went olte.

you know a skeleton key?

A. 1 never seenany.

__,
|

1
:
i
1
i
i
i
i
3
{

Do you remember when you were arrestea, in the Poliez: Cours, |

¢n this charge? A. Yes, sir, 1 rememte r.
Do you rene mbexr Mrs. Thompson charging you with having a
skeleton key in your possession?®
A. 1 remember it pesxrfectly well.
And that y ou énpered her apartments by that means?®
A. Exactly; that is what she said.
That was Octobesr 99 A. Octobes 10.
Did she make any complaint to the janitore
A. I can't say.
Was there any complaint ever made 10 the janitor, about you,

that you know of, dur ing the thirieen months that Y o were
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there? A, Not tha. 1 know of.

Have you ever been arrested before?

A. Never been , and never been convicted of any crime.

CROSS EXAMINATION.

¢
b

By Mr% Macdona:
i
Q i Never convicted of any crime before?
A. Never convicted of any ecrime be fcre.
Do you know Charl es H. Tay lor?
A, 1 used to hnave aschcol-mateCharl es H. Taylos.
Do you know Charles H. Taylor, who lives in the State of
New Jersey?® A. No, 1 do nét.
Ycu are not the Rcbert H. Eteau who, on hischarge was lockedé
in the State Penitentiary in New Jersey, for breaking and
entering; are you?
A. 1 was never in New Jersey, only to Weehawken, where
1 went to play ball.
You don'tknow Robert H. Eteau, who was born in Ros}yn, Long
Island, who was employed by Mr. Charles H. Taylor, who
was sent 1o the Jersey State Prison on October 8, 1888, ror
three years, on a charge of breaking and entering in the
county of Esgsex, New Jersey, and who g0t an allowance of
216 days for good behavior -- you don't know that Robert
% H. Epeau;do you? A. Who¢?
E;Robert H. Eteau?
A. 1 only know Robert H. Eteau -- there was two of us,

in point of faect, my cousin and myself.

How o©ld was Robert H.?

A. What RobertH.¥%

Your sous in? A. 1 1 remen ber right, he is sane
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eighteen months older than I.

You are how 01id? A. 1 am now very nearly

twenty-two; I will be twenty-two in Decembeur.
50 your ages are very much alike?
A. Probably, yes, sir.

Have you got a mark, a scar, undewr your right eye? Will
you turn and show the jury? Have you gotr a se¢ar under your
eye and anotihesr one under your left cheek?

A. T have a scar under my rignht eye, but no mark that 1
know of on my left c heek. .. My héight, I wnink, is very
nearly five feet nine -- five, seven and a nalf —-- no,
five, eight and a half.

Stand up and let the jJury look at you?

(The witness did so)

Do youknow wke the r this cousin of yours, Robert H. Eteau,
who has all of these marks of identify - similar to your gy,
has been in the jail in the county of Essex, in the State
of New Jersey? A. 1 naven't seen my cousin for
nearly four years; 1 know nim.

What is your real ﬁame?_

A. My real name is Robert H. Eteau.

Your name is not Brown; is iz?

A. My name is not Bromn.
, I nand you a rawnBticket, , 31, 348, on the Mount Morris
gLoan Oirfice,and ask you to look at that ticket. You goit
thatticket from that place?
A. I got ithat.
You gave the name of Brown?
A. I gave the name of Brown.

You also had this pawn-ticket; didn't you pawn it?




A. Yes, sir.
That is representegd by iicket 70, 110, Goldstein, 2,108
Third avere? A. Yes, sir.

You pawned that Pin on Sep tember 18th, undesr the name of

Johnson; is tihat rignt? A. Yes, sir, the name
is right; I don't know about tne date.
;EExplain to us why it was, if the re is noining wrong aboug
these things, that Yyou pawned tiaem in this name?

A. The reason why 1 didn't bpawn zhat first ticket in my

CWIl name was because I was not pawning my own g%ocds; 1 was

;;not rawning them for myself.
é;You Were not pawning then for y ourself?
fgCOurt:
égYou were pawning them for Mrs. Thompson?
A. For Mrs. Thomps on.
§§Why didn't pou pawn them in her name$?
A. I didn't nave no instructions.
§§Did Yoa have any instruction TOo pawn them in the name of
féBrown? A. No, sir, no inszractions; that

was the {irst name came in my head.

Macdona:

You pawned zihat coat and vest

There is a ticket, 74,553,

lbelcnglng 10 Mr. Thompson in the nam of Eteau?

A. Yes, sir.

A. Yes, tnat is the first

yOu say you dida 't see him since

A, 7 haven': seen him in foupr
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And wien you pawned these goods, under the different names
that you have given on the tickets, yous*did it simply as
otheér people, feor the pur pose —- any name will do%

A. Any name will do; the first name came in my head.

OSES RARNETT, sworn and examined, testifi ed:
By Mr. Kane:
(2] Now, ’'r. Ramett, your business s what?
| A. Real estate.
Q You keep your place of business where?
‘ A. No. 9 East 125th street.
Q Do you remember about the 10th dzy of Octobewr?

A. Yes, sir, the l1llth of October -- the 10th aml the

i
i
b

©1lth.

You only remember about the 1lth¢e

‘ A. I remenber on the mo rning that I called there to meet
the oirficer there.

;éYou called with Whom? A. 1 called there at the
iof‘fice, on my usual way of business, collect ing.

1

;EiYou trinsact a good deal of real estate business, and it is
?fyc)ur custom to go around to collect rents, &c?
l A. Yes, sir.

Z;Ina.ccor'ciance with your sustom Yyou went to this place, 510
;EManhatr,an avenue? A, Yes, sir.
Who accompanied you, .i:f' anybady?
A. Nobody; I drove the re in my carriage.
When Mrs. Thompson s tat es you went there with her and a lady

friend of hers, she was mistaken?

A. No, sir; I went there in tie morning, on my usauaal way ,
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By th(é

Q

You alsodiscovered that Mrs.

: You discovered f'rom the people in the house =

collecting.

Wha t time? A. About 10 o'clock, 1 shnould

judge. 1 went inio the drug St0re, and the clerk told me

there was a detective, boliceman, said there had been a

burglary .there. 1 went our and I saw the bPoliceman, and he

wanted to know of any of our tenants lost a seal-skin sack.

I told him I didn't know, but we would go there anda find

out. We went through and discovered that nobody had lost gz

seal-skin sack, except Mrs. Thompson was out.

Court:
ine t ime,

that they had not lost a seal-skin sack?

A. Yes, siwre

Tnompson was not there?®

A. Yes, sir.

i Kane:

' It has been testifi ed 1o here to-day, Mr. Barnett, that

i some time on the 10th day of October, Mrs. Thompscn, accom-

Panied by a lady friend, cd led at your Office; is thnat so?

What time was that?

A. Yes, sir.

A. 1 snould judge about nglf

past 1 or 2 o'a ¢ck, in the aftesnoon.

i

That was after ,ou discovered this allegedbarg_l.ar-y?

A Yes, s511,.

ngid you accdmpany them to the flat?

A. Yes, sir; 1 wi ked tnrough 125th streetto the flat.

After you 80t to0 the flat, what did y ou do%

A. Mrs. Thompson went in her apartments and looked over
her/é.rawer and discovered the ssck ®as gone anq{iifferent

¥hings.




At the time tnat Mrs. Thompson called atyour oif'fice, when

you accOmpanied hesr 10 i1ne flzp, you dian 't know of any

burglary having been comnitied?
A. Yes, sir, 1 knew it in the morning; the seal-skin

sack and other things were gone.

Wno informed you?% A. The officer.

Whnat was tne reascon, will you zell me, Mr. Barnett, after yQ

had accampanied Mrs. Thompson to ner flat and she haddis-
coverea

A. I went throughn prior o ihat, in the morning.
Mrs. Thompson testif es that the thr ee of you went therse
ToOgether, two lad es and Yy ourself, and that they remained

in Mrs. Tacmpson's rooms while Yyou went down ©to see the

of'ficer; is ithat so?

A. Tne officer nad made an appoiniment 10 meet me in the

afiernoon; so I went down stz rs to0 see if wtne officer ar-
rived, afier leaving Mrs. Thompson. .
Coury:
Did you meet the office =?
A. T met nim coming from lzlst street, yes, sir; he
me back 10 the flat; we went into ine Flat Togetneds.
Kane:
Wnen you reached the apariment in tne morming, did you Try
ner door? A. We knocked ithere.
No answer coming, you went away 1 presume?
A. I wen-z away,; 1 understood tanat s he was away .
Wmen you retuarned later in the day you tried tne door; did

you open it? A. No, I went ovesr with her; Mrs |

Thompson nerself opened it.

What was tke condition of tie rooms¢?




A, I didn't notice anytning particular; she opened newr

drawers, and found that they had been ransacked.

Mrs. Thompson had guite a nice fiat?

A. Yes, sir.
Various valuable articles in the flat?

As That 1 don't know.

CR O%S S E,X MMINATTI ON.
By Mr; Macaona:
Q ? Do you know anything about the duties of this boy as sub-
janitor there in that place?
A. No, sir; we hired him for a h=dl l-boy.
DO you know wlke tie » he nad any rignt to go into the bailding
ad joining, wher®e there was a vacant flat; is that any rart
of his duty?
A. No, sir; it is the ja itor's dut y.
Did you employ this man, or the janitor, this defendm 19
A. He was therelbefore I 100k charge of tne building.
ffDo you know arything of‘his_pvevious history or wna recom-
; mendations he had?
A. None whatevens.
,gYou know nothing of his 8oing, except you have seen him in
the building? A. Yes, sir; 1o see nim in

the bulilding; that is all.

fHe has visited your house; hasn't he? A. Yes, sir,
And he has been bPresent wnere he could place his hand on
.large sums of money? A. Yes, sir; ne has been
up in the offl ce; in the ray-roome.

You never knew him to be disnonest or zto take any mone y%?
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A. Not that 1 know of.

Court:
There were otner pPeople in your Place, Isuppose?

A, We generally nave the counting rcom on the second

floow.

You don't lay your money loose around?
There is somebody in your place?

A. Yes, sir; book-keepers are there.

I3
{
i
a Juror:
i

We«re there any complaints against his charac tew?

A. NOt that I know of, except that we have been robbed

seéveral times, and we never couald find out who done ite I
notified William about it, and I noiifi ed thne engineer
about these robberies,

No dereliction in any way? A. Nope whatever.

Macdona:
Any robbe ries since he was loecked up?

The Court: Wnhat has that got 1o do with

it -~ nothing whatever.

Mr. gane: That is the case for the

defenda t.

THE JURY DISAGREED.
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Police Court—

@ity and Eounty é 55
of Eetw Pork,

of No. 5 / 0 y W é/(j years,

being duly sworn

. /2 . Ward

wmeBUPGLARIOUbLY en[e;ed/ncan offomzblz/

on the day of i v/ 7 FIeT . time, and the

Jollowing property feloniowsly taken, stolen, and carried arwdy, viz:

the property of.. /.. N XN LA L e e e e et ettt e oo,
and deponent fur l/wr Sy Z/L(LZS;/w has great cause to bclwve, and does 6c7arve, that t/w aforesaid
BURGIL. Y wa commi"t{ed and the afgppesaid pr taken, stolen and carried away by

7 — k. Pt , AL v
L Q&_M’WA T A /(,27/&-% MVL ’W
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AUV IDIANT—20u2H0O
A

. Offiear,
... breat,
o Strect,

o Mutglbrate.

....Lo answer Gonoral Sesaions,

on the complaint of

THE PEOPLE, dec.,

Police Court, ________District,

Witnosses,




CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YORK,

é&a clh ccel }// P /
aged years, occupation ﬁm % of No.
”& f &M % / t being duly sworn, deposes and

says, that he has heard read the foregoing affidavit of% R

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of deponent’s own

knowledge.

.

Police Fustice.
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\ ;
Q/ District Police Court.

/§/ (%;t/ being duly examined before the under-

signed according to law, on the annexed charge; and being informed that it is h fight to
make a statement in relation to the charge against h ; that the statement is “designed to

enable h
that he

against
Question.

Answer.

Question.

Amnswer.
Question.
Answer.
Question.
Answer.
Question.

Answer.

Question.

‘if he see fit to answer the charge and explaln the facts alleged against h
is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h < "waiver cannot be use

\on the trial.

%ﬁ/ %ZAJ@J

ﬁire you? s M
IR o H et G,

‘Where do you live, and how long have yo‘ugsided there %
o o L gp
‘Whatip your business or profession ?

C< ¢ 'L/C/Z_h/\r

ive any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the
testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your

exculpation ?

c/ */?/ C-zz >

Q"L‘/(_,./(//( W LA g 2 g;ﬂ( Lre ‘—-‘L/L/i/ﬂ-_ Lo 21(

St i




HOP9Y
oAy
airmvi

aotiapIY

. ’l‘l’ ‘" llw
Y

wRY

s Ay

N

b

)J)HJ?/{ '

) A
A,

"auog ootog

NIVIETINOD B NO

/

"J»w W

7

s.‘a.’ 7

)
\ﬁ"
]
1142
}\ e
c,7 77k
N Wyl
\

LI
Y Ly 2>
%

N)
(\‘

INGEN Q
N

NS

S0

Ié appearing io me by the within depositions and staternenis that ihe crime therein mentioned has Leen

commitied, and that there is mﬁcien%iwe the uiithin na%. A
L O L ﬂ/é - C

7
/@f ereof, I order that he be held answer the same. and

f Cnn Hundred Dollars. .. o . agnd be

he Zive such il
S

Ire be admitted to bail in the sum of

ﬁzeé’zty DI‘[/J\O/ Hze City of Aew Fork, until

Dafed= > ‘/‘v{:/ / / 73.98

I rave harve admiited the abore-named_ ... ..

to bail to answer by the wndertaking hereto annexed.

Police Justice.

Dated, B £ 1.

ed e R

Zhere being no sujjicient cause to believe the within name e P
0 be discharged.

Zuilty of the ojfense within mentiored, I order h

189 —_Police Justice.




QUALITY
 ORIGINAL

@oiirt of Geneval Sessions of the Leace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

TBE PEOPLE OF THE STATE oF NEW YORK

adainst

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York, by this indictment, accuse

(Al i N E

of the CrivE or BURGLARY IN THE THIRD DEGREE, committed as follows :

@MW &/ / é/%fz e

The said

late of the 2. % Ward of the City of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the
\_/é é / - (& (/‘f ~* _ in the year of our Lord one

thousand eight hundred and ninety- Z’(/t/ C.¢.., with force and arms, in the (/’u,j 7. ~time

of the same day, at the Waxd, City and County aforesaid, the dwelling house of on€

VZ/&A/L¢4 Zé{ -2 J//{ﬂf/e/@o» . N

there situate, feloniously and burglariously did break into and enter, with intent to (;'Zit/jjine

{;r:/ime therein, to wit : with intent the goods, chattels and personal property of the sai o

% R p\_lgthe said dwelling house then and there being, then and there
. 4

:Eelonlously and burgl rlously to steal, ta.ke and carry away, against the form of the statute in

such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and

their dignity.




POOR QUALITY |
ORIGINAL

SECOND COUNT—

And the Grand Jury aforesa,id, by this indictment, further accuse the said

“of the CRIME OF \\Ci,»ld e LARCENY ¢ é/ /L/VS/W committed as follows :

waO@ lonid Y “Eaztn

late of the Ward, City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: on the day and in the year aforesaid,

7 /l/// -time of said day, with force and arms,
(/

\4/67'"')—’\ € ‘A,(A// /Q/-,/ —_ C o = T Z,( L/;//Q,
/%y/(‘/z K%Mﬁ/ Céf‘ %J ;_//a

at the Ward, City and County aforesaid, in the  +¢

af,%"é(a-.f—’ LD Ll T 2R _e \%géi "’1./'/‘@—/(«///_

-

;4/ U&(/Z . ﬂ/j\/‘/ ’ Qt« ﬂ//d‘/%u )

V _/:

C

in the dwelling house of the said &/

there situate, then and there being found, from the dwelling house aforesaid, then and there felon-
iously did steal, take and ecarry away, against the form of the statute in such case made and pro-

vided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.




THIRD COUNT:

And the Grand Jury afores 1(1Cl€th}s indictment, further accuse the said
W&(_/—g// / 2 - 6(,/(/\ T

of the CrmmE or RECEIVING STOLEN GOODS, committed as follows :

The said ( A M

late of the Ward, City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: on~the day and in the year afore-
said, with force and arms, at the Waxrd, City and County aforesaid,

\—f%( A<<,{«_/( - \)_%A_,V\_/ Cooron -

4 z/"L__fﬂ(/ —\,,6.///(

c .
S N7
of the goods, chattels and personal property of /7/14 U €~ KL/, // A % PV AN

by a certain person or persons he Grand Jury aforesaid unknown, theh lately before felon-

iously stolen from the said /
d AA<(&%«/)/J"/~//

unlawfully and unjustly did feloniously receive and have; (the said

< Cotins ) oo

then and there well knowing the said goods, chattels and pelsonal property to have been felon-
iously.stolen, against the form of the statute in such' case made and provided, and against the

peace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.

DE LANCEY NICOLL,

District Attorney.




